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Premier International Foods plc

This report is being filed in accordance with Section 4.7 of the Indenture, dated August
10, 1999, between Premier International Foods plc (“Premier”) and Bankers Trust Company, as
Trustee, with respect to the 12%4% Sterling-denominated Senior Notes due 2009 and 12% Dollar-
denominated Senior Notes due 2009 (together, the “Notes”) issued by Premier.

In this report, unless otherwise specified, “Premier”, “we”, “us” and “ours” refer
collecttvely to Premier International Foods plc and its consolidated subsidiaries. “Hicks Muse”
refers to Hicks, Muse, Tate & Furst Limited and its affiliates. “Hillsdown” means Hillsdown
Holdings ple, the entity acquired by Hicks Muse in June 1999, which was subsequently
reregistered as a private limited company under the name Hillsdown Holdings Limited. “Premier
Financing” refers to Premier Financing Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Premier. “Senior
Credit Facility” refers to the Senior Facilities Agreement entered into between Premier Financing
and Chase Manhattan Bank, Deutsche Bank AG and Salomon Brothers International Limited, as
arrangers, The Chase Manhattan Bank, Deutsche Bank AG and Salomon Brothers Holding
Company Inc., as underwriters, Chase Manhattan International Limited, as agent and security
agent, and Deutsche Bank AG, as documentation agent, on August 10, 1999.




Premier International Foods plc

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report includes staterments that are, or may deemed to be, “forward-looking
statements” (as defined in the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995). These
forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology,
including the terms “believes,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “will” or
“should” or, tn each case, their negative, or other vanations or comparable terminology. These
forward-looking statements include all matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a
number of places throughout this report and include statements regarding Premier’s intentions,
beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, Premier’s results of operations,
financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the industries in which we operate.

LEINYY

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they
relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future, We
caution you that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and that
Premier’s actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of
the industries in which we operate may differ materially from those made in or suggested by the
forward-looking statements contained in this report. In addition, even if Premier’s results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the industries in which we
operate are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this report, those resuits
or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent petiods.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or publicly revise any forward-looking
statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All subsequent
written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on Premier’s
behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements referred to above and
contained elsewhere in this report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
SHAREHOLDERS OF PREMIER INTERNATIONAL FOODS PLC

In our opinion. the accompanying consolidated balancc sheets and the related consolidated statements of profit
and loss and cash flows, included on pages 2 to 44, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Premier International Foods plc and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2001, and the
results of their opcrations and their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 1999, December 31, 2000 and
December 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management, our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of
these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United Kingdom and auditing
standards gencrally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit
(o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, cvidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion,

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom vary in ccrtain significant respects from
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Amcrica. The application of the latter would
have affected the determination of consolidated net loss cxpressed in pounds sterling for the years ended
December 31, 1999, December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2001 and the determination of the consolidated
shareholder’s deficit at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2001, to the extent swmmarised in Note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PriccwaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
! Embankment Place

London WC2N 6RH

March 28. 2002
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Premier International Foods plc

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS

Year Ended
December 31,
Note 1999 2000 2001
fm im £m
Tumover: Continuing operations - ‘ 854.3 818.5 845.2
; Discontinued operations 234.8 215.1 4]
24 10891 1,033.6 849.3
Operating profit:  Conlinuing operations 54.7 60.1 64.3
Operating exceptional items 3 (42.4) (1.6) (12.2)
12.3 58.5 52.1
Discontinued operations 9.4 9.1 (0.8)
Operating exceptional items 3 (10.0) - -
0.6) 9.1 - (0.8)
24 11.7 67.6 51.3
Non operating exceptional items 3 (12.6) (5.8) (26.2)
Profit / (loss) on ordinury activities befare imterest ©0.9) 61.8 25.1
Interest payable (26.5) (71.0) (57.2) '
{mterest receivable 3.8 31 45
Net interest pavable 7 (22.7) (67.9) (52.7)
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (23.6) 6.1) (27.6)
Tax on lass on ordinary activities 8 (9.0) (1.7) 0.6)
Loss on ordinary-activities after taxation (32.6) (7.8) (28.2)
Dividends - ~ -
Transfcrred to reserves (32.6) (7.8) (28.2)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,




Premier International Foods plc

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Fixed assets:
Intangtble assets
Tangible assets
lnvestments

Current assets:
Stocks
Debtors due:
Within one year
" After more than one year
Cash at bank and in hand

Current liabilities:
Bank loans, overdrafis and other creditors

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Non current liabilities:
Borrowings
Other creditors
Provisions for liabilities and charges

Net liabilities

Capital and reserves:
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Revatuation rescrve
Profit and loss account

Total shareholder’s deficit

Signed on behalf of The Board of Directors, who approved the financial statcments on March 28, 2002,

KM Buchanan

Director

Note

10
11

12

13
i3

14

15
15
16

17
17
17
17

December 31,
2000 2001
fm £fm

6.6 17.4
158.9 120.0
0.1 0.2
165.6 137.6
136.2 105.6
164.6 1371
237 11.7
26.2 273
350.7 281.7
(239.6) (199.1)
111 82.6
276.7 12202
(478.3) @375.1
(0.3) 0.5}
(5.7) (4.2)
(434.3) (330.4)
(207.6) (160.2)
60.0 83.7
623.2 623.2
4.1 40
(894.9) (871D
(207.6) (160.2)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Premier International Foods plc

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES

Year Ended
December 31,

1999 2000 2001

fm £m £m
Loss for the financial year (32.6) (7.8) (28.2)
Currency transiation differences on foreign currency net investments @n (1.2 (1.1)
Cash outflow to fund The Transaction (298.1) - -
Other movements resulting from The Transaction (3.2) - -
Total recognised gains and losses for the period (338.6) (9.0) (29.3)

NOTE OF CONSOLIDATED HISTORICAL COST PROFITS & LOSSES

Year Ended
December 31,

1999 2000 2001

£m £m im
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (236)  (6.1) (27.6)
Realisation of property revaluation gains of previous year 0.1 0.2 0.1
Historical cost loss on ordinary activities before taxation (23.5) (5.9) (27.5)
Historical cost loss retained after taxation, and dividends (32.5) {7.6) (28.1)

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS

Yeuar Ended
December 31,

1999 2000 2001

fm tm im
Loss {or the financial year (32.6) (7.9) {28.2)
Goodwill transferred to the profit and loss account in respect of disposed - - 53.0
businesses )
Other recognised gains and losses 4.7 (1.2) (1.1
Share capital issued - - 23.7
Cash outflow to fund The Transaction (298.1) - -
Other movements resulting from The Transaction (3.2) - -
Net reduction in shareholder’s funds (338.6) (9.0) 474
Opening shareholder’s funds / (deficit) 140.0 (198.6) {207.6)
Closing shareholder’s deficit (198.6) (207.6) (160.2)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Premier International Foods plc

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Year Ended
December 31,
Note 1999 2000 2001
im £m £m
Net cash inflow from operating activitics (a) 287 90.2 81.7
Return on investments and servicing of finance ® (6.2) (55.6) 40.1)
Taxation (16.5) 3.9 1.5
Capital expenditure and financial investment b) (20.9) (23.9) (12.8)
Acquisitions and disposals () 12.9 (0.6) 72.3
Cash inflow / (outflow) before financing 2.0 6.2 99.6
Financing:
Issue of shares (b} - - 237
Increasc / (reduction) in debt () 2230 (35.7) (119.8)
Cash outflow to fund The Transaction (298.1) - -
@s.n (35.7) 96.1)
Increase / (decrease) in cash in the year {77.1) {29.5) 3.5
Reconciliation of net cash flow to. movement in net debt
Increase / (decrease) in cash in the year (77.1) (29.5) 3.5
Cash inflow / (outflow) from increased debt and lease financing (223.0) 35.7 119.8
Changg in net debt arising from cash flows (300.1) 6.2 1233
Ncw finance leases (1.2) - -
Exchange - {10.0) (3.6)
Movement in net debt in the year (301.3) (3.8) 119.7
Net debt at January 1 (185.9) -(461.3) (470.9)
Net debi pre capitalised debt issuance at December 31 487.2) (465.1) (351.2)
Less capitalised debt issuance costs 25.9 (5.8) (7.5)
Net debt at Deccmber 31 (461.3) (470.9) (358.7)

Analysis of movement in net debt

At Cash  Capitalised Exchange At
December 31,  flow debt December 31,
2000 Issuance 2001
costs

fm fm tm fm fm
Bunk overdrafts 3.1 24 - - (0.7
Cash balances and demand depasits 26.2 1.1 - - 27.3
Net cash : 23.1 35 - 26.6
Debt due after 1 vear 493.0) 1124 - (3.6) (384.2)
Debt due within I year (20.0) 6.5 - - (13.5)
Capitalised debt issuance costs 20.1 - (1.5 - 12.6
Net borrowings (469.8) 122 4 1.5 (3.6) (358.5}
Finance lcascs (L. 09 - - (0.2)
Net deblt (470.9 123.3 (1.5) (3.6) (358.7)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Premier International Foods plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Year Ended

Dcecember 31,
1999 2000 2001
im £m £&m
(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows
Operating profit before cxceptional items 64.1 69.2 63.5
Depreciation of tangible {ixed assets 236 220 161
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets - 0.3 0.5
Amortisation of pension prepayment - - 2.0
Cash flow relating to restructuning (63.4) (13.9) (13.5)
Other exceptional cash flows - (1.3) -
{Increase) / decrease in stocks 64 11.3 17.8
(Increase) / decreasc in debtors 7.7 0.3 9.6)
Increase / (decrease) in creditors (7.3) 3.4 6.0
Exchange movement in working capital 2.4 (0.5 (1LY
Net cash inflow from operating activities 28.7 90.2 8L.7
{b) Analysis of cash flows for headings netted in the cash flow statement Year Ended
December 31,
1999 2000 2001
im £m £m
Return on investments and servicing of finance
taterest recerved 12 30 4.5
Interest paid (7.4)  (584) (44.5)
Interest element of finance lcase rental payments - ©.2) 0.1
Retumn on investments and servicing of finance (6.2) (55.6) {40.1)
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangibic fixed assets (23.0) (26.5) (20.1)
Sale / (purchase) of investments . - 02 0.1
Sale of tangible fixed asscts ; 2.1 2.4 7.4
Capital expenditure and financial imvestment (209  (23.9) (12.8)
Acquisitions and disposals )
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (16.2) 0.6) (28.7)
Cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings (1.0 - 0.8)
Sale of subsidiary undertakings 89 - 101.8
Cash eliminated on sale of subsidiary undertakings 213 - -
Acquisitions and Disposals 12.9 (0.6) 72.3
Financiny
Increase / {(decrcasc) in debt due within a year 113 8.7 6.5)
Increase / (decreasc) in debt due beyond a year 525.9 (42.9) (112.4)
Balances with Hillsdown Holdings Group (313.2) - -
Issue of shares - . 23.7
Capital element of finance leuse rental payments 1.0 (1.5) 0.9)
Financing 223.0 (35.7) (96.1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Premier International Foods plc
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAN CIAL STATEMENTS
{. Accounting Palicies
FRS 18, 'Accounting policies'

FRS 18 rcplaccs SSAP 2 to reflect updated thinking in the ASB's “Statement of Prnciples for Financial
Reporting” (“SoP™). It redefines ‘accounting policies’ and distinguishes them from 'estimation techniques’ for
measuring items in financial statements, The four 'fundamental accounting concepts' of SSAP 2 (that is, going
concern, accruals, consistency and prudence) are replaced by a framework that requires accounting policies to
be selected against the qualities set out in the SoP, namely relevance, reliability, comparability and
understandability. Premier has implemented FRS 18 in 2001 and management has reviewed and revised
Premier’s accounting policies accordingly (see “Turnover”),

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with the items which are considered
to be material in relation to Premier’s financial statements,

Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards in
the United Kingdom, under the historical cost convention,

Basis of consolidation
The Transaction

On August 10, 1999 affiliates of Hicks, Muse, Tate & Furst Limited (together with its affiliates “Hicks Muse”)
acquired all the outstanding shares of Hillsdown Holdings pic (“Hillsdown™) for cash. Hillsdown was a holding
company with operating subsidiaries engaged in the grocery, furniture and poultry businesses. As part of this
acquisition, Hillsdown undertook a reorganisation in which it transferred its furniture and poultry businesses to
other entities controlled by Hicks Muse, and Hillsdown was recapitalised as a grocery business on a stand-alone
basis.

Premier International Foods plc ("Premier”) was formed as a vehicle for obtaining financing through the issue
of debt securities. Premier Financing Limited (“Premier Financing”} was formed as a vehicle for obtaining
senior debt financing. Premier Financing Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Premicr. Premier was owned
by the same affiliates of Hicks Musc as Hillsdown.

On October 29, 1999, Hillsdown undertook a further reorganisation in which it was gifted 100% of the ordinary
share capital of Premier by HMTF Premier Limited and in tumn Hillsdown transferred all of its subsidiaries (with
the cxception of JJ Yates & Co Limited and Citadel Insurance Limited) to Premier for which it received in
consideration £60,000,000 of newly issued ordinary shares in Premier. Premier in tum transferred those
subsidiaries to Premier Financing for which it received in consideration £60.000,000 of newly issued ordinary
shares in Premier Financing. In each case, the excess of the book value of the investment of £683.2m over the
£60.0m of share capital issued has been recorded as share premium. The difference between the £140.0m of net
assets recorded at December 31, 1998 and the recapitalisation of £683.2m has been taken to the profil and loss
account reserve. The reserves which equate to the net assets at December 31, 1998 have been classified as
revaluation reserves or profit and loss account reserve as appropriate.

The above cvents are referred to hereafter as “The Transaction”.
Consalidated financial statements for 1999

The results of Premier for the vear ended December 31, 1999 and the balance sheet at December 31, 1999 have
been consolidated on the basis that Premier acquired its subsidiaries, with the exception of Jonker Fris and Boin,
on January 1, 1999. Jonker Fris and Boin have becn consulidated into the Premicr group on the basis that
Premier acquired them at the date that they became part of the Hillsdown group. Premier’s intercompany
transactions with other Hillsdown divisions and the head office of Hillsdown during that period are discloscd as
“Group” transactions. i
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Premier International Foods plc
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Consolidated financial statements for 2000 and 2001

The results of Premier for the vears ended and the balance sheets at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2001
have been consolidated in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom, under the
historical cost convention.

Consolidated financial statements for 1999, 2000 and 2001

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with generaily accepted accounting
principles in the United Kingdom requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the rcported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periads. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Premicr is allocated overhead costs relating to Hillsdown’s shared administrative functions based on central
management's cstimate of the time involved in supporting each of the groups that Hillsdown provides those
administrative functions to. The allocated costs are included in general administrative and other expenses in the
Consolidated profit and loss account. Management believes that such allocation methodology is reasonable.
The expenses allocated to Premier for these services arc not necessarily indicative of the expenses that would
have been incurred if Premier had becn a separate independent entity. 1n 1999, 2000 and 2001 Premier has been
recharged £1.7m, £0.9m and £0.2m by Hillsdown Holdings Limited in respect of the shared administrative
functions. The decreasc in the recharge to Premier by Hillsdown is primarily the result of Premier incurring
costs directly that previously would have been incurred by Hillsdown. :

Employces of Premicr companies are members of a number of defined benefit pension schemes. Each of
Premier’s operating companies directly funds the schemes based on the actual pension cost for its employees in
accordance with the funding levels as determined by the scheme’s actuaries. There are no recharges or -
allocations of costs from Hillsdown.

Groodwill

In accordance with FRS 10, purchased goodwill, being the excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration
over the fair value of the separable net tangible assets of businesses acquired, is capitalised and amortised over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and 20 years on a straight line basis. Prior to 1998, goodwill anising on the
acquisition of subsidiary undenakings was wntten off to rescrves in the year of acquisition. On the subsequent
disposal or termination of a business acquired prior to 1998, the profit or loss on disposal or termination is
calculated after charging the gross amount of any related goodwill previousty taken to reserves.

Turnover

Tumover is the value of sales, excluding transactions with or between wholly owned subsidiaries, after
deduction of sales rebates, value added tax and other taxes directly attributable to turnover. Sales are recognised
upon receipt of confirmation that the goods shipped have been accepted by the customer, where the sales price is
fixed and collectability is reasonably assured. Shipping and handling costs are included in selling and
distribution costs. The review of accounting policies required by FRS 18 identified that certain sales deductions
would be more appropriately classified as a reduction in “sales” rather than “cost of sales” and certain
promotional expenditure would be more appropriately classified as “selling and distribution costs” rather than a
reduction in “salcs”. This change of policy has been adopted and the comparatives for 1999 and 2000 restated
accordingly.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditure is expensed in the year in which it is incurred.
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Premier International Foods ple
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Depreciation and Amortisation

Frechold land is not depreciated. Long and short leasehold property is amortised over the terms of the leases
from the date the property is brought into use.

Other fixed asscts are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis at rates sufficient to
reducc them to their estimated residual value. Such estimated useful lives are:

Freehold land - Not dcpreciated
Freehold buildings - 20 to 50 vears
Plant and machinery -3to 15 years
Vehicles - 3t0 § years.

When properties are rcvalued, the depreciation thereafter provided is based on the revalued depreciable
amounts. .

In accordance with FRS 11, where assets are impaired as a result of market factors, write downs are charged
initially against any related revaluation reserve until historic cost is reached and thereafter charged to operating
profit.

Fixed Asset Investments
Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost l¢ss any provision for impairment in their value,
Leasing

Financc leases relating to significant items of plant, machinery and vehicles have been capitalised and
depreciated in accordance with Premier’s depreciation policy, subject to a maximum period of the term of the
lease. The capital clement of futurc lease payments is included in other creditors. Payments under operating
leases arc charged wholly to the profit and loss account in the year in which they are incurred.

Where a leasehold property which has substantially ceased to be used for the purpose of the business is sublet,
{ull pravision is madc for the future casts of the praperty less recoverable amounts.

Stocks

Stocks arc valucd at the lower of cost and net realisable valve. No intcrest is included but, where appropriate,
cost includes production and other attributable overhead expenses. Cost is calculated on a first-in-first-out basis
by refercuce to the invoiced value of supplies and attributable costs of bringing stecks to their present location
and condition.

Foreign Currency Translation

Asscts and liabilities dcnominated in foreign currcncies are translated into Sterling at rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the financial year, and the results of overseas subsidiaries are translated at the average rate of
exchange ruling during the year. Differences on exchange arising from the retranslation of the opening net
investment tn subsidiary undertakings, and from the translation of the results of those companies at an average
rale arc taken to reserves. Where foreign currency borrowings arc used to finance or hedge equity investments,
the gain or loss arising on translation of thesc matched borrowings is also taken to reserves. All other exchange
differences are dealt with through the profit and loss account.




Premicr International Foods plc
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Deferred Tax

Provision for deferred tax is calculated, in accordance with SSAP 15, on the liability method for deferred tax
resulting from short term timing differences between profits computed for tax purposes and profils as stated in
the consolidated financial statements. Provision is made for deferred tax on other timing differences, including
pension prepayments and post retirement benefits, only to the extent that it is probable that an actual liability
will crystallise.

FRS 19 introduces a form of ‘full’ provision for accounting for deferred tax (called ‘incremental liability’
approach) that replaces the “partial’ provision method in SSAP 15, Deferred tax should be provided on timing
differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date, but only when the entity has an
obligation 1o pay more 1ax in the future as a result of the reversal of those timing differences. Premier will
implement FRS 19 in its financial year commencing January 1, 2002.

Government Grants

Government grants on capital expenditure are credited to a deferral account and are released to revenue by equal
annual amounts over the life of the asset to which they relate. Other grants are rcleased to revenue over the life
of the projects to which they relate,

Pension Costs

The pension costs relating to Preimier pension schemes are assessed in accordance with the advice of
independent qualified actuaries. The amounts so determined include the regular cost of providing the benefits as
a level percentage of current and expected future earmnings of the employees covered. Variations from the regular
pension cost are spread on a systematic basis over the estimated average remaining service lives of current
employees in the plans.

FRS 17, 'Retirement benefits’

FRS 17 introduces a completely different approach to accounting for defined benefit pension schemes. At each
vear end the pension scheme assets are measured at market value, the pension scheme liabilities are measured at
a present value using a specified actuarial valuation method and discounted at a corporate bond rate, and the
resulting surplus or deficit is shown on the company's balance sheet. The FRS redefines what should be reported
as operating costs. including an annual 'current service cost’ (which is no longer reduced or increased by
spreading forward surpluses or deficits). The expected return on scheme assets less the notional interest cost on
the scheme liabilities is included as other finance costs (or income) adjacent to interest. Actuarial gains and
losses from vear to vear are to be recognised immediately in the Statememt of Total Recognised Gains and
Losses. Pension costs continue to be recognised and measured in accordance with SSAP 24 "Accounting for
Pension Costs", FRS 17 requires that accounts ending after 22 Junc 2001 give additional balance sheet
disclosurc in order to provide adequate future data comparatives when FRS 17 is fully implemented. Premier
has provided this information separately within the financial statements. The new UK accounting standard FRS
17 "Retirement Bencefits" will be fully adopted in the financial statemerus for the year ending 31 December 2003
which is in accordance with FRS 17,

Post Retirement Benefits

Premier provides certain additional post retirement and unfunded pension benefits principally for employees in
continental Europe. The cstimated cost of providing such benefits is charged against profits on a systematic
basts over thc employees’ working lives within Premier.

Exceptional Items

Exceptional items are thosc that need to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence. Such items are
included within opcrating profits unless they represent profits or losses on the sale or tcrmination of an

operation, costs of a fundamental reargamsation or restructuring having a material affect on the nature and focus
of Prermer s busincss, or profits or losses on the disposal cf fixed assets.

10
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- Premier International Foods ple

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Cash and Liguid Resources

Short term cash deposits, which can be called on demand or without notice without any material penalty arc
included within cash balances within the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated cash flow statements.

Debt issuance costs

Costs relating to the issuance of debt are capitalised and amortised over the period of the debt, in line with the
amortisation of the debt, in accordance with FRS 4,

Financial Instruments

Dcrivative financial instruments utilised by the company comprise interest rate swaps and options, cross
currency swaps. forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options. All such instruments are used for
hedging purposes to aiter the risk profile of an underlying exposuzre faced by Premier. Interest rate swap
settlements arc recognised as adjustments to interest expense over the term of the undetlying instrument and
cxchange gains or losses are recognised on the maturity of the underlying transaction.

2. Analysis of Continuing Operations

1999
Continuing  Operating  Continuing Discontinued Operating Discontinued  Total
operativns  exceptionul  operations  operutions  exceplicnal operations operutions
hefore itemts in after before items in after after
operating continuing  operafing operating  discontinued  operating  operating
exceptional  operations  exceptional exceptional operations exceptional exceptional

ftoms items itemns items items
£m fm fm im £m £m £m
Turnover £354.3 - #543 234.8 - 234.8 1,089.1
Cost vl sales (653.1) - __{653.1) (184.9) - {184y (837.9)
CGiross profit 201.2 - 201.2 - S04 . 504 2516
Selling & distribution (118.6) . (118.6) (32.%) - (32.5) (151.1)
Administrative (27.9) (42.4) (70.3) (8.9) {10.0) {18.5) (88.8)
Net operuting expenscs (146.5) (424)  (18R9) (41.0) (10.0) (51.0) (239.9)
Operating protit 54.7 (42.4) 12.3 9.4 (10.0) (0.6) 1.7
2000 2001
Continuing  Operating  Discontinued Total Continuing  Opersting  Discontinued  Total
operutions  exceptional  operations aperations  exceptional  operations
items items
Ln £ im im tm tm £m im
Tumover #1R S - 2151 1,0336 845.2 - 4.1 ®493
Cast of sales _(620.4) - (168.4) (784.8) (657.2) (0.9) 3.7 (661.8)
Ciross protit 198.1 - 46.7 2448 188.0 (0.9} 0.4 187.5
Selfting &
distribution (113.4) . (29.5) (142.9) 97.6) 2.5) 0.5) (100.6)
Admimustrative (24.6) (1.6) (@1 (34.3) (26.1) _(83) €7 (35.6)
Net operating
expenses (138.0) (1.8) (37.6) (177.2)_ (1237 (113 {12 {136.2)
Operating profit 60.1 (1.6) 91 67.6 64.3 (12.2) (0.8) 51.3

The discontinued operations principally relatc to Holco BV, which was sold in March 1999, Chivers Ireland,
which was sold in November 1999, The Horizon Biscuit Company Ltd, which was sold in January 2001, and FE
Barber Limited (trading as Kingsland Wines & Spirits) which was sold in February 2001. The comparatives for
1999 and 2000 have been restated accordingly.
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Premier International Foods plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Restatement of 1999 and 2000 sales, cost of sales and selling and distribution costs

As described in Note |, certain sales deductions have been reclassified as a reduction in “sales” rather than “cost
of sales™ and certain promotional expenditure has been reclassified as “selling and distribution costs” rather than
a reduction in “sales”. This change of policy has been adopted and the comparatives for 1999 and 2000 restated
accordingly, and the cffect is set out below:

1999 2000
£m £m
Sales
Reporied in Annual Financial Report for the year ended December 31, 2000  1,096.2 1,036.4
Reduction in sales reclassified as selling and distribution costs 9.9 9.2
Cost of sales reclassified as reduction in sales (17.0) (12.0)

Reported in Annual Financial Report for the year ended December 31, 2001 1,089.1 1,033.6

Cast of sales .
Reported in Annual Financial Report for the vear ended December 31, 2000 854.5 800.8
Cost of sales reclassified as reduction in sales (17.0) (12.0)

Reported in Annual Financial Report for the year ended December 31, 2001 837.5 788.8

Marketing costs
Reported in Annual Financial Repont for the year ended December 31, 2000 1412 1337
Reduction in sales reclassified as selling and distribution costs 9.9 9.2

Reported in Annual Financtal Report for the year ended December 31, 2001 151.1 142.9

3. Exceptional Itcms

The principal compaonents of exceptional items are as follows:

1999 2000 2001
fm £m fm
Operating exceptional items: '
Continuing operations:
Closure of factorics, and costs of production integration (13.2) - -
Restructuring of production facilities (16.0) (1.6) 3.5)
Restructuring of distribution arrangements - - (4.2)
Restructuring of administration facilities - (4.5)

Fecs relating to The Transaction _ (13.2)

(42.4) (1.6) (12.2)
Discontinued operations:

Restructuring of production facilities (8.3) - -
Other discontinued exceptional items (1.7 - -
Total operating exceptional items ’ (524) (L.6) {12.2)
Non operating exceptional items:
Fundamental reorganisation (5.0) - -
Loss on sale or termunation of discontinued operations (1.9) 4.2 (29.0)
Profit / (loss) on salc of fixed assets (5.1) (1.6) 34

Total non operating exceptional items (12.6) (598 (26.2)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Summary Segmental analysis

Canned foods. pickles and sauces
Beverages

Preserves

Potatocs

Other

Continuing operations
Discontinued opcrations

Total

Turnover by reporting unit

1999 2000 2001

£m £m fm
3216 3376 1624
2233 193.8 1756
143.5 135.0 133.8
135.6 132.5 157.3
30.3 19.6 16.1
854.3 818.5 845.2
2348 215.1 4.1
1,089.1 1.033.6 849.3

Premier has restructured its operations during 199% and 2000 to form a unified grocery products business. The
product groups shown have shared administrative functions and the operating assets are not separable.

Therefore, further segmental analysis of operating profit and operating assets is not possible.

The pickles and sauccs operations have been reclassified from the preserves reporting unit into the reporting unit

with canned foods following a change in management reporting lines in 2001.

The 1999 and 2000 comparatives have also been restated to reflect a change in the classification of centain sales
deductions and which have now been reclassified from a deduction from sales to marketing costs or from cost

sales to sales (see Notc 2).

United Kingdom
Mainland Europe

Other countries
Conttnuing operations
Discontinued operations

Total

United Kingdom
Mainland Europe
Other countries
Continuing operations

Operating cxceptional items (Note 3)

Discontinued operations
Total

Net debt

Turnover by geographical Turnover by geographical
origin market
1999 2000 2001 1999 2000 2001
£m fm £m £m £m £m
724.1 694.9 7234 698.1 681.9 7123
1302 123.6 121.8 148.2 1293 1244
- - - 8.0 73 8.5
854.3 818.5 8452 854.3 §i8.5 845.2
234.8 215.1 41 234.8 215.1 41
1.089.1 1,033.6 849.3 1,089.1 1,033.6 8493
Operating profit by Operating assets by
geographical origin gengraphical origin
199% 2000 2001 2000 2001
im fm im fm £m
52.0 587 62.5 160.3 176.3
2.7 1.4 23 26.1 220
- . (0.5) -
S4.7 60.1 643 186.4 198.3
(524 (16 (12.2) . .
9.4 9.1 (0.8) 76.9 0.2
11.7 67,6 513 263.3 198.5
(4709)  (358.7)
(207.6)  (160.2)




Premier International Foods plc
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5. Profit on Ordinary Activities Before Taxation -

1999 2000 2001

£m fm £m

The profit before tax was amived at after charging:
Dcpreciation of fixed assets

Owned assets ‘ 23.0 210 15.9

Leased assets 0.6 1.0 0.2
Amortisation of intangible assets - 0.3 0.5
Auditors remuneration

Audit services 0.3 0.3 0.3

Non audit services 0.9 0.4 0.4
Operating lease payments

Plant and machinery 7.0 5.9 4.3

Land and buildings 23 25 1.7
Research and development 0.6 0.5 0.4
6. Employecs

Employee remnuneration and refated costs (including directors’ emoluments) were as follows:

1999 2000 2001

£m &m £m
Wages and salarics 142.4 133.5 90.0
Social sccurity costs 13.9 120 9.0
Other pension costs 60 37 2.7

162.3 149.2 101.7

The average number of employees during the period was as follows:

1999 2000 2001
Management 724 476 343
Administration 568 490 586
Production, distribution and other 5,806 5,624 3,288

7,098 6,590 4,217

Pensions

Premicr participates in @ number of Hillsdown pension schemes (principally the HF scheme, the HF No 2
scheme and the Premier Brands pension plan), the majority of which are funded defined benefit schemes; there
arc in addition a small number of company defined contribution schemes, personal pension schemes and life
assurance only arrangements. The scheme funds are administercd by trustees and are independent of Premier’s
finances. The schemes invest in 2 mixture of UK and European equities and corporate and government bonds.

The total pension cost for Premier in 1999, 2000 and 2001 has been assessed in accordance with the advice of
independent qualified actuaries, using the Projected Unit Method. Actuarial assessments of the schemes were
made during 2001 with the principal actuarial assumptions being that the rate of discount of liabilittes is 3%
more than wage inflation and 4% more than pension increases. Allowance was madc for pensions in payment to
increasc as rcquired by statute and in accordance with the rules of the schemes, and also to reflect Hillsdown’s
and Premicr’s policies. Assets were valued using a market value approach.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

" At the datc of the latest actuarial assessments, the total market value of the assets was £225.0m and the actuarial
value of the assets was sufficient to cover 110% of the benefits that had accrued to members after fully allowing
for future salary increases. The normal cost of Premicr's defined benefit pension schemes was £3.9m (2000:
£7.7m, 1999: £5.7m) which, after amortisation of the remaining uprecognised surplus, resulted in a net defined
benefit pensions expense of £2.0m (2000: £3.4m, 199%: £5.7m). Premier has not contributed to the schemes
during 2001, duc to the scheme surplus, therefore the net defined benefit pensions expense of £2.0m comprises
an amortisation of the pension prepayment of £2.0m. In 1999 and 2000 cash contributions by Premier to the
schemes equated to the net defined benefit pensions expense and thereforc no amortisation of the pension
prepavment was required. The cost of the defined contribution schemes was £0.7m (2000: £0.3m, 1999:
£0.3m).

The pension prepayment at December 31, 2001 was £10.8m (2000 £22.8m), which represents the accumulated
difference between the pension cost and employer contributions. The reduction in the prepayment of £12.0m
cotnprises £10.0m which related to Horizon Biscuits Limited which was disposed of in January 2001, and the
amortisation in 2001 of £2.0m. :

Premier also opcrates plans in continental Europe which provide employees with certain post retirement and
unfunded pension benefits. The liabilities in respect of these benefils amounted to £0.6m at December 31, 2001
(2000; £0.8m).

FRS 17 Disclosures

FRS 17 "Retirement benefits’ came into effect during 2001. The following ilems are recorded under the
transitional disclosure requirements of FRS 17, and should be read in conjunction with the pension disclosures
in accordance with SSAP 24 recorded above. Full actuarial assessments of the schemes were made during 2001,
and have been updated by an independent qualified actuary as at December 31, 2001. The major assumptions
used by the actuarv were:

Rate of increase in salaries 3.0%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.0%
Discount ratc 6.0%
Inflation assumption 2.0%

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of retumn were:

Expected Market

rate of value
return
Agset : fm
Equities 7.4% 145.5
Bonds 6.5% 62.4
Other 4.0% 47
Total market value of scheme assets 7.0% 2126

The following amounts at December 31, 2001, were mcasured in accordance with the requirements of FRS 17.

im
Total market value of scheine assets 2126
Present valuc of scheme liabilities (215.1)
Deficit in the schemes 2.5)
Related deferred tax asset 0.8
Net pension liability (1.7)

15
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

If the above amounts had been rccognised in the financial statements, the group’s net liabilities and profit and
loss reserve at Decermber 31, 2001, would be as follows:

fm
Net liabilities excluding pension liability (160.2)
Pension prepayment recognised under SSAP 24 {10.8)
Nect pension liability recognised under FRS 17 (L7
Net liabilities including pension liability amnmn
Profit and loss reserve excluding pension liability (871.1)
Pension prepayinent recognised under SSAP 24 (10.8)
Pension reserve {7
Profit and loss reserve including pension liability (883.6)

Directors’ emaoluments

Aggregate emoluments paid to Directors by group companies in respect of services to Premier and its
subsidiaries totalled £2.6m (2000: £2.4m, 1999: £1.0m} for the vear, including £0.8m of compensation for loss
of officc. Retirement bencfils accrue (o three Directors under defined benefit schemes. The highest paid
Director was paid £1.0m (2000: £1.0m, 1999: £0.5m).

7. Net Interest Payahle

1999 2000 2001

£m fm £m
Bank loans and overdrafts 171 55.0 46.0
Exchange movement on US Dollar denominated bond - 10.0 3.6
Amortisation of capitalised debt issuance costs 24 5.8 7.5
Finance lcascs 02 0.2 0.1
Group interest payable 6.8 - -
Total interest payable 26.5 71.0 572
Extcral intcrest receivable 1.2 3.1 45
Group interest receivable 2.6 - -
Total interest reccivable 38 3.1 45
Net interest pavable 22.7 67.9 52.7

Group intcrest payable and receivable rcpresents interest payable to and reccivable from Hillsdown Holdings
Limited pricr to The Transaction in 1999.
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Premier International Foods plc
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

8. Tax on Loss on Ordinary Activities

1999 2000 2001
fm fm tm
Premicr and subsidiary nndertakings:
UK Corparation tax at 30.0% (2000: 30.0%, 1999: 30.25%)
Current vear 5.7 07 0.8
Prior vear - 0.8 0.2)
Overseas tax 1.0 0.2 -
Deferred tax 23 - -
Tax on prefit on ordinary activities 9.0 1.7 0.6

The principal itcms affecting the tax charge are excepticnal items not allowable for tax purposes. Tax relief on
exceptional items in the year was £2.5m (2000 £0.5m, 1999: £4.2m).

9. Intangible Assets

Goodwill Trademarks Tatal

£m £m £m
Cosl at January [, 2001 6.9 - 6.9
Additions 3.8 7.5 11.3
Cost at December 31, 2001 10.7 7.5 18.2
Amortisation at January 1, 2001 | 0.3 - 0.3
Charge for the vear 0.4 0.1 0.5
Amortisation at December 31, 2001 0.7 0.1 0.8
Net book value at December 31, 2001 10.0 7.4 17.4
Net book value at December 31, 2000 6.6 - 6.6

The addition o goodwill during 2001 is in respect of the acquisitions of the canned foods, pickles and sauces
businesses of Stratford on Avon Foods Limited (“SonA”), the “Lift” instant lemon tez business (“Lift”} from
Northern Foods plc and thc “Nelsons of Aintree” preserves manufacturing business (“Nelsons™) from AB
Technology Litmnited  The goodwill ansing on thesc acquisitions will be amortised over a period of 20 years.
The trademark addition is in respect of the “Lift” instant lemon tea trademark. This trademark will be amontised
over a period of 20 years.

17
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“10. Tangible Fixed Assets
Freehold Long Short
Land & Leasehold Leasehold Plant &
Buildings Properties Properties Machinery Total
£m £fm £m £m fm
Cost or valtuation at January 1, 2001 77.1 3.7 08 279.9 361.5
Addiuons 1.5 - - 18.6 20.1
Acquisition / (disposal) of subsidiaries (11.0) - - (84.2) (93.2)
Disposals . .M - - 0.4) (5.4)
Exchange adjustmcents 0.2) - - (0.8) ( 1.0)
Cost or valuation at December 31, 2001 624 3.7 0.8 213.1 280.0
Depreciation at January t, 2001 146 0.6 0.3 187.1 2026
Charge for the year 1.7 - 0.1 14.3 16.1
Acquisition / (disposal) of subsidiaries 0.7 - - (55.9) (56.6)
Disposals (1.0} - - 0.4) (1.4)
Exchange adjustments (0.1) - - (0.6) 0.7
Depreciation at December 31, 2001 14,5 0.6 0.4 144.5 160.0
Net Book Valuc at December 31, 2001 ‘ 47.9 3.1 0.4 68.6 120.0
Net Book Value at December 31, 2000 62.5 31 0.5 92.8 1589
The cost or valuation of depreciable assets included
above at Deccmber 31, 2001 16.9 3.7 0.8 213.1 2345
Analysis of cost or valuation at December 31, 2001
Cost 58.4 37 0.8 213.1 276.0
Valuation 4.0 - - - 40
62.4 3.7 0.8 213.1 280.0

{ncluded in long leasehold property at December 31, 2001 were capttalised finance leases with a net book value
ol £0.3 (2000: £0.3m). Depreciation charged dunng the year on these assets was £nil (2000: £ail, 1999; £nil).
Included in plant & machinery at December 31, 2001 werc capitalised leascs with a net book value of £0.2m
(2000: £2.5m). Depreciation charged during the year on these assets was £0.2m (2000: £0.9m, 1999: £0.6m).

Preniicr has implemented FRS 15, “Tangible and intangible fixed assets™ in 2000. Premuer has taken advantage
of the transitional arrangements relating (o previously revalued assets and has not revatued those assets held at
valuation. Premier’s frechold and long leaschold properties in the UK and Eire were revalued on the basis of
open market value for existing usc by Bidwells at December 31, 1990. The historical cost of revalued assets at
Deccmber 31, 2001 was £0.1m. The valuations were undertaken in accordance with the manual of the Royal
{nstitute of Chartercd Surveyors. The book values of these properties were adjusted to their valuations during
the relevant financial period and the resultant net surplus credited to the revaluation reserve,

2000 2001

fm fm
Capital expenditure commitments
Expenditure contracted for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements : 25 0.3

18




w4

L WL A F e

Premier International Foods plc
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11. Fixcd Asset Investments

Unlisted investments im
At January 1, 2001 0.1
Additions 0.1
At December 31, 2001 0.2
Provisions at December 31, 2000 and 2001 -
Nel book value at December 31, 2001 0.2
Net book value at December 31, 2000 0,1
12. Stocks
2000 2001
£fm £m

Raw materials 427 34.5
Work in progress 7.2 5.9
Finished goods and goods for resale 86.0 65.2
Other stocks 0.3 -

136.2 105.6

13. Debtors

2000 2001
fm fm
Due within one year:
Trade debtors, net of provisions 136.6 114.6
Other debtors including VAT 25.4 19.8
Prepavments 2.6 2.7
164.6 137.1
Due after morc than one vear:
Other debtors and pension prepayments 23.7 117
Total debtors 188.3 148 8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14, Creditors Due Within One Year

2000 2001
£m im
Senior Credit Facility duc within one vear ' 20.0 13.4
Other bank loans and overdrafts 3.1 08
Capitalised debl issuance costs ’ (5.4) 4.1)
17.7 10.1
Tradc creditors 1246 139.0
Corporation taxes 6.8 6.8
Other taxes and social sccurity 123 59
Finance lease obligations 09 0.1
Amounts due to parcnt company 3.1 34
Other creditors 9.4 10.5
Intercst accruals 93 10.8
Other accruals 55.5 12.5
239.6 1991
15. Creditors Due After More Than Onc Year
2000 2001
fm fm
Borrowings:
Unsccured subordinated US$200m 12.0% Senior Notes due 2009 1338 137.4
Unsecured subordinated £75m 12.25% Senior Notes due 2009 75.0 75.0
Capitalised debt issuance costs (5.5) (3.3)
2033 209.1
Senior Credit Facility 2838 163.9
Capitalised debt issuancc costs (9.2) (5.2)
274.6 158.7
Loan from related partv - 7.6
Other unsccured foans 0.4 0.3
0.4 79

478.3 3757

_Other creditars:
Financc leasc obligations:

Due betwecn one and five years 0.2 0.1
Government grants in respect of capital expenditure 0.1 0.4
0.3 0.5

The loan from related ‘party 15 from HMTF Poultry, an affiliated company, does not bear interest and is
repayable in full on December 31, 2006.

The maturity prolilcs of borrowings and finance lease abligations is shown in Notc 20,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Description of Senior Credit Facility and Sabordination Arrangements
Senior Credit Facility

In connection with the Transaction, Premier Financing cntered into a Senior Credit Facilities Agreement with
Chase Manhattan plc, Deutsche Bank AG London and Salomon Brothers [nternational Limited, as arrangers,
The Chasc Manhattan Bank, Deutsche Bank AG and Salomon Brothers Holding Company Inc., as underwriters,
Chase Manhattan Intemnational Limited, as agent and security agent, and Deutsche Bank AG, as documentation
agent (the “Senior Credit Facility”). Under the Scnior Credit Facility, a syndicate of financial institutions made
£420.0m of scnior secured credit facilities available to Premier Financing. These facilities have been reduced in
linc with repayments made. At December 31, 2001, the facilities available to Premier amounted to £302.3m.

Structure

The Senior Credit Facility provides for £302.3m of loan facilities comprising (i) the Refinancing Facilities
consisting of Refinancing A and Refinancing B Facilities and (i1) the Working Capital Facility (cach as
described below) and the ancillary facilities which may be provided therein.

The Refinancing A Facility is for an amount of up to £121,3m and the Refinancing B Facility is for an amount
of up to £56.0m. At Deccmber 31. 2001, £121.3m was outstanding on the Refinancing A Facility and £56.0m
was outstanding on the Refinancing B Facility.

The Working Capital Facility in the amount of up to £125.0m is available in pounds sterling or the equivalent in
certain foreign curtencics in the form of revolving advances and a letter of credit facility, which is to be used for
general corporate purposes. At December 31, 2001, no advance had been drawn down under the Working
Capital Facility and £18.3m was wtilised for general corporate purposes.

Interest Rates and Fees

Interest on advances under thc various facilities is pavable at the rate per annum equal to LIBOR (or
EUROBOR for euros) plus applicable mandatory liquid asset costs plus the following applicable margins in
relation to the facilities:

2.25% per annum reducing on the basis of a ratchet reducing in several steps to 1.25% per annum
dependent upon certain net debt to consolidated EBITDA ratios for the Refinancing A Facility. At
December 31, 2001, the margin applied 1o LIBOR on this facility was 2.0%;

- 2.75% per annum for the Refinancing B Facility; and

2.25% per annum reducing on the basis of the ratchet applicable to the Refinancing A Facility for the
Working Capital Facility. At December 31, 2001, the margin applied to LIBOR on this facility was
2.0%.

Commitment fecs are pavable at the rate of 0.75% per annum of the undrawn portion of the relevant facilities.
The commitment fees on the Working Capital Facility reduce in several steps to 0.25% per annum dependent
upon certain net debt to consolidated EBITDA ratios. At December 31, 2001, the margin applied to LIBOR in
respect of commitment fees was 0.625%. Default interest is payable at the applicable interest rate plus 1% per
annum.

Security and Guarantees

Premier Financing's obligations under the Senior Credit Facility arc required to be guaranteed by each of the
material operating subsidiarics of Premier. Each charging subsidiary has granted security over substantially ail
of its asscts, including English law fixed charges over matcrial properties, bank accounts, insurances, debts and
shares and a floating charge over all of its other undenakings and assets. Certain lmited matena] subsidiaries
corporated outside of England and Wales have given similar security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Covenanty

The Senior Credit Facility requires Premier Financing 1o observe certain covenants, including covenants relating
to delivery of financial statements, insurances, notification of any default or any occurrence which could be
reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect, consents and authorisations being maintained, compliance
with environmental laws, notification of material litigation and labour disputes, access to books and records,
uscs of proceeds, filing of tax retums, pension schemes, the provision of guarantees and security from
subsidiarics. euro compliance, intellectual property rights and hedge transactions,

The Senior Credit Facility requires Premier Financing to comply with certain negative covenants, including
covcnants relating to ncgative pledges, borrowed money, guarantees, disposals, operating leases, change of
accounting reference date or accounting policy, identity of auditors, equity yield and intercompany loan
payments, reduction of capital, loans and credit, intra-group contracts and arrangements, distributions, share
capital, disposals, acquisitions and joint ventures, amendments to documents, change in business, merger and
amalgamation, shareholders’ meetings and constitutive documents, acquisitions and joint ventures and new
subsidiaries. Cecrtain categories- of permitted payment may bc made as exceptions to the restrctions on
dividends and intercompany loan payments including payment of interest on the Notes.

In addition, the Senior Credit Facility requires Premier Financing to comply with specified ratios and tests,
including EBITDA/total interest expensc, total net debt/EBITDA, fixed charge coverage ratio and maximum
capital expenditure.

There arc caps on permitted budgeted capital expenditure for each financial year with the right to carry forward
any surpius of budgeted capital expenditures up to a maximum surplus amount of one third of the previous
vear's budget for use within the first six months of the following financial year.

Maturity and Amortisation

term Loan Facilities. The Refinancing A Facility will be repaid in semi-annual instalments commencing on
June 30, 2000, with the final maturity on June 30, 2006.

The Refinancing B facility will be repaid in two instalments with 50% repayable on December 31, 2006 and the
balance repayvable on June 30, 2007.

Repayments on these facilities in excess of the original amortisation schedule are applied pro rata over the
remaining repavments

Working Capital Advances. The Working Capital Facility (and all other facilities made availzble thereunder)
will ceasc to be available on June 30, 2006.

Subordination Deed

The Subordination Deed provides for restrictions on Premicr taking certain actions in relation to the Notes. In
pasticular, Premier may not receive payments to pay principal on the Notes or any prepayment, redemption,
defcasance or purchasc of principal on the Notes or certain indemnities until the Senior Credit Facility has been
paid in full,
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16. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

Unfunded pension
liabilities and post  Restructuring

Deferred retirement and
tax benefits other provisions Tatal
fm ftm fm {m
Al January |, 2001 0.6 08 4.3 57
Utilised - 0.2) 3.1 (3.3)
Charged - - 1.8 1.8
At December 31, 2001 0.6 0.6 3.0 4.2

Restructuring provisions represent the liability in respect of further restructuring to that commenced during
1999. together with restructuring that has been commenced as a result of the sale of Horizon Biscuits. Of the
£3.0m balance at the end of the year, £1.8m represents the costs still to be incurred in relatian to the integration
of Premicr Brands France, Premier’s French biscuit distribution company, into Mateme, Premier’s French
preserves and compote manufacturing and selling operation.  The costs comprise anticipated payments arising
from the reorganisation of distribution and logistics arrangements.

The provision for unfunded pension liabilitics and post retirement benefits represents the liability in respect of
pension obligations in Premier’s continental European operations where no funded plans are in operation.

The full potential liability for deferred tax is as follows:

2000 2001
Full Full
Amount potential Amount Potential
provided liability Provided Liability

fm £m tm im
Accelerated tax depreciation 0.6 10.3 0.6 4.6
Other timing differences - 6.4 - 3.1
0.6 16.7 0.6 7.7

The potential liability for tax on capital gains which might arise if Premier’s revalued properties were to be sold
at their book value, and no advantage taken of rollover relief, is estimated to be £1.2m (2000: £1.2m).

Defcrred tax has not been provided in respect of liabilities which inight arise on the distribution of
unappropriated profits of overseas entitics.

17. Share Capital and Reserves

2000 2001
fm fm
Authorised
100,000,000 £1 ordinary shares (2000: 70,000,000 £1 ordinary shares) 70.0 100.0
Issued and fully paid
83,701,200 £1 ordinary shares (2000; 60,050,000 L1 ordinary shares) 60.0 83.7
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Premier International Foods pic
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDPATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Premier International Foods plc was incorporated on May 12, 1999 with an authorised and issued share capital
“of 50,000 £1 ordinary shares. On October 29, 1999, 2 further 69,950,000 ordinary shares of £1 each were
authorised, of which 60.000,000 were issued in consideration for the purchase from Hillsdown of the
companies, with the exception of Premier Financing, that comprise Premier International Foods plc Group.
Premier authorised a further 10,000,000 and issued a further 16,151,200 shares on June 29, 2001 for a
consideration of £16,151,200 and authorised a further 20,000,000 and issued a further 7,500,000 shares on

December 11, 2001 for a consideration of £7,500,000.

Share Share  Revaluation Profit and Tota)
Capital Premium Reserve Loss . Capital &
Account Reserves
£&m £m {m im £m’
At January 1, 2001 60.0 623.2 41 (894.9) (207.6)
Movements in the year:
Retained loss for the financial year - - - (28.2) (28.2)
Share capital issued 237 - - 239
Goodwill transferred to the profit and - - - 53.0 53.0
loss account in respect of disposed
businesses
Revaluation rescrve realised - - ©.1) 0.1 -
Exchange movements - - - (.1 (i.n
At December 31, 2001 837 623.2 4.0 (871.1) {160.2)

18. Acqyuisitions and disposals

The net assets acquired and consideration paid in respect of the acquisitions of the canned foods, pickles and
sauces businesses of Stratford on Avon Foods Limited in April 2001, the “Lift” instant femon tea business in
Scptember 2001, the “Nelsons of Aintree” preserves manufacturing business in October 2001 and Horberry &

Baker Limited in March 2000 were as follows:

2000 2001
fm £m
Assels acquired:
Intangible assets - 7.5
Fixed Assets 0.2 92
Current Assets
Stocks - 107
Trade Dcbtors 06 56
Other Debtors - 0.3
Creditors duc in less than 1 vear
Trade Creditors 0.4) (6.8)
Other Creditors 0.1 0.6)
Creditors duc after more than | year - {0.2)
Total Capital Emploved 0.3 25.7
Consideration
Cash 0.6 28.7
Dcbt net of cash acquired - 0.8
Total consideration - 0.6 295
Goodwill arising 0.3 3.8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The canned foods, pickles and sauces businesses of Stratford on Avon Foods Limited contributed £19.9m to
Premier’s turnover and £1.5m to Premier’s operating profit in 2001.

The “Lift” instant lcmon tea business contributed £1.2m to Premier’s turnover and £0.5m to Premier’s operating
profit in 2001,

The “Nelsons of Aintree” preserves manufacturing business contributed £6.0m to Premier’s tumover and £0.2m
to Premier’s operating profit in 2001.

The net assets disposed and consideration received in respect of Horizon Biscuits Limited and FE Barber
Limited (“Kingsland Wines & Spirits™) which were disposed of in 2001, were as follows:

2001
im
Asscts disposed:
Fixed assets 47.8)
Current assets
Stocks (23.5)
Trade debtors (41.6)
Other debtors (11.4)
Tax 0.9
Creditors less than 1 year :
Creditors 281
Other creditors 18.7
Total capital cmploved : (78.4)
Cash consideration 101.8
Goodwill previously written off (o reserves ’ (53.0)
Loss on sale (29.6)
19. Commitments and Contingencies
Comimitments lo make operating lease payments during the next financial year were as follows:
Land & Buildings Plant &
Machinery
2000 2001 2000 2001
fm £m £m im
On Icases expining;
Within | vear 0.4 0.6 30 2.0
Between 2 and 5 years 1.4 0.5 52 15
After 5 vears 0.7 0.7 - -
25 1.8 82 15

Contingent liabilitics
Premier is subject to certain legal claims incidental to its operations. In the opinion of the directors, after taking

appropriate fegul advice, these claims are not expected 1o have, either individually or in aggregate, a material
adverse effect upon the group's financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20. Financial instruments
Risk management

The funding interest ratc and foreign exchange risks are managed by the Treasury Committee, which js a sub-
committee appointed by the Board. Day to day managecment of tredsury activities is performed by the group
treasury department. The framework for management of these tfisks is set down in the Sentor Credit Facility
Agreement and in the Treasury Policies and Procedures manual. '

The main risks arising from Premier’s financial transacttons are interest rate risk, liquidity risk and foreign
currency nisk, The policies towards these risks are documented and are reviewed on a regular basis by the
Treasury Committee.

Premier also enters into contracts with suppliers for its principal raw mateniats, some of which are considered
commoditics. However, as thesc contracts are part of Premicr’s normal purchasing activities and always result
in actual delivery, commodity risk arising from these contracts is not considered material.

Interest rate visk

Premier borrows principally in pounds sterling and US dollars at both fixed and floating rates of interest.
Premier actively monitors its interest rate exposure since the high level of gearing makes its profitability
scnsitive to movements in interest rates. However, the minimum interest rate hedging that must be in place is
governed by the hedging strategy letter, which forms part of the £302.3m Senior Credit Facility Agreement. -
Premier makes use of a variety of derivative instruments including interest rate swaps, collars and caps to hedge
its interest ratc exposure. The mixture of instruments used to hedge its exposurc however is determined by the
conditions of its credit facility agreement and discussions with its lending group. The Senior Credit Facility
Agreement requires Premicr to hedge a minimum of 50% of its senior debt, which currently amounts to -
£177.3m. Premier currently has hedging in place for £100.0m until January 2003. In addition, Premier has
entered into a coupon swap to fix the cash flows on its US§200m high vield debt issue which has the effect of
converting the interest payments into fixed rate sterling,

Liquidity risk

Premicr has negotiated facilities with its bankers that provide sufficient headroom to ensure liquidity and
continuity of funding. It thereforc has sufficient unutilised banking facilities and reserve borrowing capacity.
Premier tends to have significant fluctuations in its shert term borrowing position duc to seasonal factors;
however, the revolving credit facilitics are set at a level sufficient to meet its projected peak borrowing
requircments.

Foreign exchange risks

Premier reports its financial statements in pounds sterling and trades in several non-sterling currencies. Its
trading transactions are therefore subject to the effect of movements in these currencies. Such exposures arise
{rom salcs or purchases in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. Management of these transaction
exposures is decentralised and subsidiary companics manage their exposures within the terms of the Treasury
Policies and Procedures. This requires subsidiaries (o hedge committed foreign currency transaction exposure
above ccrtain levels. [t is Premier’s policy to hedge exposure using forward forcign currency exchange
contracts, currency borrowings/investments and currency options. Again, this is menitared by the Treasury
Committec. Although Premier generates some of its profits in non-sterling currencies and has asscts in non-
sterling jurisdictions the translation exposure resulting from these profits and overseas net assets is not
considered material and is currently not hedged. This matter is reviewed rcgularly by members of the Treasury
Committee.
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Premier International Foods plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

Polential concentrations of credit risk to the group consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and trade
receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are deposited with high credit, quality financial institutions. Trade
receivables are due principally from major European grocery retailers. Furthermore, it is Premier’s policy to
insure all third party trade debt. Premier docs not consider therc to be any significant concentration of credit

risk at Dccember 31, 2001
Interest rate and currency profile
2001
Financial assets
Floating rate
Cash and dcposits
2000
Financial assets

Floating rate

Cash and deposits

The financial assets al! have maturities of less than onc year and are all at floating rates.

2001

Financtal liabilities .
Floating rate

Fixed ratc

Borrowings

Fixed ratc weighted average interest ratc
Fixed ratc weighted average years to maturity

2008

Financial liabilitics
Floating rate

Fixed ratc

Bormrowings

Fixed rate weighted average interest rate
Fixed ratc weighted average vears to maturity

Sterling US Dollar  Euro Other Total
£m £m £fm im fm
20.8 1.6 4.9 - 27.3
20.8 1.6 4.9 - 27.3

1.3 9.7 14.9 0.3 26.2
1.3 9.7 14.9 0.3 26.2

Sterling US Dollar  Euro Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m

(119.0) - n - (120.1)

{265.9) - - - (265.9)

(384.9) - (1.1) - (386.0)

10.9%
231

(229.5)° (0.9) (5.5) - (235.9)

(261.2) - - - (261.2)

(490.7) (0.9) (5.5) - (497.1)

10.9%
3.1

The interest rates applicable to the Notes and Refinancing and Working Capital Facilities are detailed in Note
15. The analysis of average interest rates and years to maturity on fixed rate debt is after adjusting for interest
rate swaps. Exposure to movements in interest rates and years to maturity on fixed rate debt is after adjusting
for intercst rate swaps. Exposure to movements in intercst rates s further protected by interest rate caps and
interest rate collars amounting to £88.5m bringing the total amount of interest ratc hedging to £354.4m. The
hedging currently in place on the senior debt is operative until January 2002 but has been extended to January
2003, Prernicr has an intcrest free loan of £7.6m from an affiliated party.
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Maturity of financial liabilities

2000 2001
Debt Capitalised Finance Total Debt Capitalised Finance Total
debt leases debt leasey
- issaance ' issuance
costs costs
im im £m im {m £m &m £m
Within | ycar
or on demand 23.1 5.9 0.9 18.6 14.2 4.1) 0.1 10.2
Between:
1 and 2 years 25.1 4.8 0.1 204 18.0 FER) 0.1 14.2
2 aud 3 vears 300 4.4 0.1 257 225 (2.6) - 19.9
3 and 4 vears 351 (3.0) - 32.1 315 (1.2) - 303
4 and 5 years 45.0 (1.5) - 435 71.6 0.7 - 709
Over Syears  357.8 (1.0). - 356.8 240.6 ©.1) - 240.5
516.1 (20.1) 1.1 497.1 3984 (12.6) 0.2 386.0"

Currency analysis of financial assets and liabilities

The table below shows Premier’s currency exposures that give rise to net currency gains and losses that are
recogrused in the consalidated profit and loss account for the year ended December 31, 2001, Such exposures
comprise monetary assets/liabilities that are not denominated in the functional currency of the subsidiary
involved.

The amounts shown below are afler taking into account the effect of forward exchange contracts and other
derivative instruments entercd into to manage thesc exposures.

Net foreign currency assets / (liabilities)

2000 2001
Functional currency of group operation Functional currency of group operation
Sterling Eure Other Total Sterling Eure Other Total
fm im &m £m fim fm £m £m
Sterling - 0.5 ) (1.0) - (RS - 0.n
Euro 212 - 212 14.6 - - 14.6
US Dallar (113.4) - - (113.4) (117.8) - - (117.8)
Greek Dracluna 0.3 - - 0.3 0.1 - - 0.1
Swiss Franc 0.3y - - (0.3) 0.2) - - (0.2)
{92.2) 0.5 (1.9 93.2)  (103.3) {0.1) - {103.4)

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities

E.kpiring in less than 1 vear - -
Expinng in more than 1 but lcss than 2 years - -
Expiring in more than 2 years 853 106.7

As at December 31 853 106.7

The above undrawn facilities form part of the group’s overall working capital lines, which bear interest at
floating rates and arc committed until June 30. 2006.
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Premier International Foods plc
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value of financial assets and liabilitics

Set out below is a comparison of book and fair values of all Premier’s financial instruments by category:

2000 2000 2001 2001
Baok Fair Baok Fair
valuc value value value
£fm fm £m £m
Financial instruments held or issucd to finance Premier’s
operations:
Short term borrowings and current portion of long term
borrowings (23.1) 23.1) (14.2) (14.2)
Long tcrm borrowings (493.0) (492.9) (384.2) (387.9)
Other financial liabilities (.1 (1.1) 0.2) 0.2)
Cash deposits 26.2 26.2 273 27.3

Fair valucs for the Notes, which have been included within long term borrowings, have been based on current
market values.

Financial instruments held or issued to manage Premier’s interest rate or currency profile are set out below:

2000 2000 2001 2001
Nominal Fair Nominal Fair
value value value value
fm £m £m £m
Interest rate swaps - (0.4) - 0.5)
Cross curtency swaps - 35 - 5.2
Foreign exchange contracts (27.6) 27.7) 32.71 (31.9)

The fair values of foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swap agreements have been calculated on a mark
10 market basis. All commodity contracts are secttled by physical delivery and are not held for trading purposes.
There are no significant gains or losses on hedges at December 31, 2001 expected to be shown in the income
statement for December 31, 2002,

The analysis of financial instruments in this note excludes short term debtors and creditors as permitted under
FRS 13.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

21. Principal Subsidiary Undertakings

The following represent the principal undertakings of Premier at December 31, 2001, Percentages indicate
ownership of the undertakings’ ordinary share capital by Premier, directly or indirectly. Details of the country of
incorporation and principal opcrations and the main activity of each undertaking are also given. All
undenakings shown are included in the consolidated financial statements.

Country of
incorporation or _
registration and %
Subsidiary Undertakings principal operations Business Owned
Financing :
Premicr Financing Limited England & Wales Financing 100
Canning, Preserves and Potatoes
Boin Confiturcs France Preserve and fruit compote 100
manufacturing
Chivers Hartlev Limited England & Wales Preserve and pickle manufacturing 100
HL Foods Limited England & Walcs Food canning and processing 100
Jonker Fris Netherlands Food canning and processing 100
Mateme SA France Preserve and fruit compote 100
manufacturing
MBM Produce Limited England & Walcs Potato processing and grading 100
Biscuits and Beverages
Premicr Brands (UK) Limited England & Wales Hot and cold beverages 100
manufacturing
Premier Brands France SA France Beverage and food distribution 100

22. Certain Relationships and Related Party Trausactions

The loliowing related party relationships and transactions have been disclosed because of their material nature
lo the operations of Premicr. Other transactions with entitics within the Hillsdown Group are not disclosed as
permitted by FRS 8 “Related party disclosures™.

Monitoring and Oversight Agreement

In 1999, Premier entered into a 10-year agreement (the “Monitoring and Oversight Agreement”) with Hicks
Muse pursuant to which Premicr will pay Hicks Musc an annual fee of £1.2m for providing oversight and
monitoring services to Premier. The annual fee is adjustable at the end of each fiscal year to an amount equal to
one-tenth of one percent of Premier’s budgceted consolidated net sales, but in no event may the fee be less than
th.lm. In addition Premier has agreed to indemnify Hicks Musc and its shareholders and their respective
directors, officers, agents, employees and affiliates from and against all claims, actions, proceedings, demands,
Liabilities. damages, judgements, assessments, losses and costs, including fecs and expenses, arising out of or in
connection with the services rendered by Hicks Muse under the Monitoring and Oversight Agrecment. The
Monitoring and Oversight Agreement makes available to Premier the resources of Hicks Muse concerning a
variety of financial and operational matters. The services that have been and will continue to be provided by
Hicks Muse could not otherwise be obtained by Premier without the additien of personnel or the cngagement of
outside profcssional advisers, In management's opinion, the fees provided for under the Monitaring and
Oversight Agrecment reasonably reflects the benefits received and to be received by Premier.
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Premicr International Foods plc
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Financial Advisory Agrecment

In 1999. Premier and Hicks Muse entered into an agreement (“the Financial Advisory Agreement”) pursuant to
which Hicks Muse received a cash financial advisory fee of £9.6m from Premier upon the closing of the
Transaclion as oompensanon for its services as financial advisor for the Transactions. Hicks Muse will also be
cntiticd to receive a fee equal to 1.5% of the transaction value for each add-on transaction. The Financial
Advisory Agreement makes available to Premier the resources of Hicks Muse concerning a variety of financial
and operational matters. The services that have been and will continue to be provided by Hicks Muse could not
otherwise be obtained by Premier without the addition of personnel or the engagement of outside professional
advisors. In management’s opinion, the fees provided for under the Financial Advisory Agreement reasonably
rcflect the benefits received and to be received by Premier. Premier paid £0.4m in 2001 (2000: £nil, 1999:
£9.6m) to Hicks Muse under the Financial Advisory Agreement.

Golden Share

A Golden Share has been issued by Premier Financing with voting rights which entitles the holder of the Golden
Share to block the passing of resolutions for the winding-up or administration of Premier Financing or
resolutions approving other matters that would constitute a breach of the Senior Credit Facility. These voting
rights attaching to the Golden Share will lapse upon a payment default in respect of the Notes continuing
unrcmedied and unwaived for a period of 180 days. The Golden Share is held by an affiliate of Hicks Muse
which will agree with the lenders under the Senior Credit Facility as to the exercise of the voting rights of the
Colden Share.

Hillsdown Holdings Limited management charge

In 1999, 2000 and 2001, Premicr was recharged £1.7m, £0.9m and £0.2m, respectively, by Hillsdown Holdings
Limited in respect of the shared admunistrative functions. The decrease in the recharge to Premier by Hillsdown
is primarily the result of Premier incurring costs directly that previously would have been incurred by Hillsdown
and recharged.

HMTF Poultry Limited

Premier has borrowed £7.6m from HMTF Poultry Limited, an affiliated company. This loan'is interest free and
repayable in full on December 31, 2006.

FRS 8 “Related Party Disciosures”
The company is a whollv owned subsidiary underlaking of Hillsdown Holdings Limited which prepares
consolidated fitnancial statements madc available for public disclosure. In accordance with the exemptions

avatlable to such undertakings under the Financial Reporting Standard No 8, no other disclosure of related party
transactions with group companies has been made in these financial statements.

23. Parent Undertakings
The company’s uitimate parent undertaking is HMTF Premicr Limited, 2 company incorporated in the Cayman

Islands. The company’s immediate parcnt undertaking is Hillsdown Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in England and Wales and which owns 100% of Premier’s issued share capital.

The consolidated financial statements of Hillsdown Holdings Limitcd are available for inspection at that
company's registered office which is at 28 The Green, Kings Norton, Birmingham, B38 85D.
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24. Summary of Differences Between United Kingdom and United States Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles

The consolidated {inancial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted (n the United Kingdomn (UK GAAP”), which differ in certain material respects from generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States (“US GAAP”). Such differences involve methods for
measuring the amounts shown in the consolidated financial statements, as well as additional disclosures required

by US GAAP.

The following is a summary of the material adjustments to the consolidated profit on ordinary activities after
taxation and consolidated sharcholder’s deficit that would have been required in applying the significant

differences between UK and US GAAP.

Reconciliation of consolidated profit and lass accounts

Consolidated loss on ordinary activities after laxation as reported
under UK GAAP
US GAAP adjustments:

Goodwill amortisation @)
Pensions ()
Deferred taxation (c)
Derivative financial instrements (d)

Goodwill transferred to the profit and loss account in respect of (a)
disposed businesses

Pension prepayment asset in respect of disposed businesses b)
Deferred tax liability in respect of disposed businesses {c)

Net US GAAP adjustments
Tax effect of net US GAAP adjustments

Consolidated net income / (loss) under US GAAP before cumulative
cffect of change in accounting principle

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of £0.9m tax (d)

Consolidated net income / (loss) in accordance with US GAAP

Reconciliation of consolidated shareholder’s deficit

Consolidated sharcholder’s deficit as reported under
UK GAAP
US GAAP adjustments;
Goodwill
Accumulated amortisation of goodwill
Pensions
Deferrcd taxation
Derivative financial instruments
Rcevaluation of fixed assets

Net US GAAP adjustments

Consolidated shareholder’s deficit as reported under US GAAP
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Year ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001
£m £m im

(32.6) (7.8) (28.2)
(19.2) a1 (5.9)
70 34 5.2
14 (0.9) 0.7

- - 2.5

- - 49.0

- - 10.0

- - 6.1
(10.8) (4.6) 38.0
2.1) (1.0) (2.3)
(45.5) (13.4) 35.7
- - 2.1
(45.5) (13.4) 37.8

2000 2001

£fm {m

(207.6)  (160.2)

_ (a). 266.3 213.3
(a) (232.8)  (189.7)
(b) 13.2 284
©) (22.3) (20.1)
(d) - 55
{c) @.1) (4.0
20.3 33.4
{187.3)  {126.8)
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Premier International Foods plc
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Rallforward analysis of consolidated shareholders funds / (deficit)

1999 2000 2001

im £m im

Balance in accordance with US GAAP at January ] 173.7 (172.9) (187.3)
UK GAAP loss for the financial year (32.6) (7.8) (28.2)
Other recognised gains and losses () (1L.2) (1.1
Issue of share capital - - 23.7
Cash outflow to fund the Transaction (298.1) - -
Other movements resuiting from the Transaction 3.2) - -
US GAAP adjustments

Goodwill amortisation {(a) (19.2) (EA)) (5.9)

Goodwill transferred to the profit and loss account in respect of - - 49.0

disposed businesscs .

Pensions (b) 7.0 34 152

Defcrred taxation (c) 14 (1.9) 2.2

Derivative financial instraments . @ - - 5.5

Revaluation of fixed asscts (c) - 0.2 0.1

Fixed asset investments (3] 2.8 - -
Balance in accordance with US GAAP at December 31 (172.9) (187.3) (126.8)

A sumumary of the principal differences and additional disclosures applicable to Premier are set out below:
(a) Gaodwill

Both UK GAAP and US GAAP require purchase consideration to be allocated to the net assets acquired at their
fair value on the date of acquisition, with the difference between the consideration and the fair value of the
identifiable nel assets recorded as geodwill.

Under UK GAAP, goodwill arising on acquisitions made on or before December 31, 1997 has been written off
directly to reserves in the year of acquisition. If a subsidiary or a business has been subsequently sold or closed,
previously written-off goodwill that resulted from the initial acquisition has been taken into account in
determining the gain or loss on sale or closure. Gaadwill that arises on acquisitions subsequent to December 31,
1997. following the introduction of FRS 10, has been capitalised and amortised over its estimated useful life,
which has been estimated at 20 years,

Under US GAAP, goodwill arising on acquisitions made on or before December 31, 1997 has been capitalised
as an intangible asset and amortised over its estimated useful life. Goodwill arising on acquisitions made on or
after Julv 1, 2001 has been capitalised and will not be amortised but will be tested at least annually for
impairment.

Horizon Biscuits Limited was disposed of in 2001 and goodwill of £53.0m which had been written off directly
lo reserves was written back through the profit and loss account in accordance with UK GAAP. Under US
GAAP. this goodwill had been capitalised and amortised and the net book value of goodwill remaining in
respect of Horizon Biscuits Limited at the date of disposal was £4.0m. The US GAAP adjustment, thercfore to
the UK GAAP profit and loss on disposal in respect of goodwill was the goodwill previously amortised under
US GAAP of £49.0m.
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(b} Pensions

Under UK GAAP, the cost of providing pension benefits should be cxpensed over the average expected service
lives of eligible employees in accordance with the provisions of SSAP 24.

Under US GAAP, the annual pension cost comprises the estimated cost of benefits accruing in the period as
determined in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 87, which requires
readjustment of the significant actuarial assumptions annually to reflect current market and economic
conditions. Under SFAS No. 87, part of the surplus which represents the excess plan assets over plan
obligations has been recognised in the balance sheet, with the remainder of the unrecognised surplus and the
unrecognised gains and losses spread over the employees’ remaining service lifetimes. The pension benefit
obligation is calculated by using a projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains or losses within a 10%
“corridor” have not been recognised.

The net assets under UK GAAP of Horizon Biscuits Limited, which was disposed of in the year included a
pension prepayment asset of £10.0m. No asset was included in the net assets under US GAAP disposed of. The
US GAAP adjustment, therefore to the UK GAAP profit and loss on disposal in respect of pension assets was
£10.0mn.

The components of net periodic pension cost for all Premier sponsored defined benefit pension plans were as
follows:

Componcots of pension cost

1999 2000 2001
im £m &m
Service cost 9.0 7.7 3.9
Recagnised actuirial ioss - - -
Interest cost 12.8 15.2 12.83
Expected return on plan assets ' (21.1) 21.2) (18.2)
Amortisation of prior service cost - - -
Amortisation of transition obligation .7 (1.7) (1.7)
Net periodic pension cost (1.0) - (3.2)
The funded status under US GAAP for Premier sponsored defined benefit pension plans is as follows:
Funded status
2000 2001
fm £fm
Projected bencfit obligation (246.1) (215.1)
Fair value of plan assets 250.2 212.6
Funded status 44, 1 2.5)
Unrecognised net actuanal profit / (loss) G.b 450
‘Unrecognised transition asset 5.0y 3.3)
Unrecognised prior service cost - -
Net asset recognised 36.0 39.2
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Amounts recognised in respect of Premier’s pension obligations for Premier sponsored defined benefit pension

plans in the consolidated balancc sheets consist of the following:

Prepaid pension expense

Net asset recognised

2000 2001
£m £&m
36.0 39.2
36.0 39.2

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets of Premier sponsored defined benefit pension plans during the

vear were as follows:

Benefit obligation at January 1
Service cost

Interest cost

Employec contributions

Benefit payments

Actuarial losses/(gains)

Sale of biscuit businesses

Sale of Barber Springdale

Payment of part of Terranova transfer

Benefit obligation at December 31

Changes in plan assets for Premier sponsored defined benefit pension plans were as follows:

Fair value of plan assets at January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Emplover contributions

Employec contributions

Benefit pavments

Payment of biscuit transfer

Salc of Barber Springdale

Payment of part of Terranova transfer

Fair value of plan assets at December 31

2000 2001
£m im
257.2 246.1
7.7 39
15.2 12.8
34 18
(15.1) (15.2)
(17.5) 7.4
- (40.1)
(1.8) -
(3.0) (1.6)
246.1 215.1
2000 2001
£m £m
3084 290.2
.D (19.4)
14 0.0
34 18
(asn (15.2)
B (42.8)
(1.8) -
(3.0 (2.0)
290.2 212.6

The weighted-average assumptions used at December 31 to determine pension cost for Premier’s defined benefit

pension plans were as follows:

Discount rate

Expected long-term retum on plan assets
Expected rate of increase in conpensation levels
Expected rate of increase of pensions
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1999
%

6.0
7.5
4.0
1.5

2000
Yo

6.0
7.0
3.0

2.0

2001
%

6.0
7.0
30
20
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Premier International Foods plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fci Deferred taxation

Under UK GAAP, a provision is recorded for deferred taxatior under the partial liability method to the extent
that such taxation is expected to crystallise within the foreseeable future. This means that the full potential
liability is not nccessarily provided. Additionally, deferred tax assets are recognised only when they are
cxpected to be recoverable within the foreseeable future.

Under US GAAP, deferred taxation is provided for on a full liability basis. Under the full liability method,
deferred tax assets or liabilities are recogmised for differences between the financial and tax basis of assets and
liabilities and for tax loss carry forwards at the statutory rate at each reporting date. A valuation allowance is
cstablished when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realised.

The loss on disposal of Horizon Biscuits Limited, which was disposed of in 2001, was calculated under UK
GAAP on nct assets including a deferred tax liability calculated on the partial provision basis. Under US
GAAP, the net assets disposed of would include a deferred tax asset or liability calculated on the full provision
basis. The difference of £6. Im between the deferred tax liability as calculated under UK GAAP and US GAAP
is therefore rccorded as a decrease to the loss on disposal of Horizon Biscuits Limited as recorded under UK
GAAP.

Classification of Premier’s tax liabilities and asscts under US GAAP is as follows;

2000 2001
£m im
Deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated tax depreciation 10.3 46
Rollover relief 24 28
Derivative {inancial instruments - 1.7
Pensions 10.8 117
Total deferred tax liabilities 23.5 20.8
Defcrred tax assets:
Provisions (0.6) (0.1)
Net delerred taxation under US GAAP 229 207

Premier’s cffective rate reconciliation is as follows:

Year ended December 31

1999 2000 2001
Y% % %

UK statutory tax rate 30.2 30.0 30.0
Goodwill (16.2) (21.9) (7.8)
Dervative financial instrumcnts - - 73
Non allowablc exceptional items (40.0) (16.8) (40.3)
Other non allowable items @n (36.5) (0.6)
Pension 5.9 98 43
Effect of tax eate changes 1.7 0.5 -
Prior period adjustment - (2.5) (1))
Effective tax ratc under US GAAP QL)%  (37.4)% (8.2)%

36




WLl VLW (DWW WA B
Premier International Foods plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Total tax expensc is as follows:

Year ended December 31
1999 2000 2001
fm im £m
UK GAAP:
Current {ax expensc 6.7 1.7 06
Deferred tax expensc 2.3 o - -
Tolal tax expense 9.0 17 0.6
US GAAP:
Current tax expensc 6.7 1.7 0.6
Deferred tax expense 0.9 1.9 3.9
Total tax cxpense 7.6 3.6 4.5

(d} Derivative financial instruments

The Group's derivative financial instruments include interest rate swaps, cross cumency swaps and foreign
exchange contracts. Under UK GAAP, Premier has recorded its derivative financial instruments off-balance
sheet as at December 31, 2001 and 2000. Premier has recorded payments arising from interest rate derivatives
in the profit and loss account along with the related intercst payments on its net debts according to the accrual
method. Premier records currency derivatives relating to net cash flows in the profit and loss account as such
cash flows are received or paid; any unrealised gains or losses are deferred at reporting period end.

Under US GAAP, prior (o the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instraments and Hedging Activities” (SFAS 133), Premier had designated its currency derivatives
and interest ratc derivatives as hedges of specific underlying assets and liabilities. Accordingly, these
derivatives had also becn recorded using the accrual method under US GAAP.

On Januarv 1, 2001, the Group adopted SFAS 133, as ammended by SFAS 137 and SFAS 138 and as interpreted
by the Derivatives Implementation Group. The Group has not designated any of its derivatives as qualifying
hedge instruments under SFAS 133 and, accordingly, has recorded a cumulative effect of adopting SFAS 133 at
January 1. 2001 of £2.1 million, net of tax. The Group has not subsequently designated any of its derivatives as
qualifying hedge instruments under SFAS 133, such that gains and losses related to the fair value adjustment of
all dertvative instruments are classified in the consolidated statement of income and cash flows in accordance
with the eamnings treatment of the hedged transaction. A summary of movements in fair value is summarised

below.
2000 2001  Movement
£m fm £m

Fair value adjustment profit

Interest rate swaps 0.4) (0.5) ©.1)
Cross curtency swaps 3.5 5.2 17
Foreign exchange contracts 0.1 0.8 0.9
Fair valuc adjustment profit 3.0 55 2.5
Less tax at 30% (0.9) (1.7 0.8)
Fair value adjustment profit nct of tax at 30% 2.1 3.8 1.7

The movcment on the fair value of the interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps has been recognised as
interest incotne as thesc products are used to hedge futute interest payments in pounds sterling and US dollars.
The movement on the fair value of the foreign exchange contracts has been recognised as an adjuslmenl to cost
of saies as these contracts are solely used to hedge raw material purchases.
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The Group has also cvaluated its existing contracts for "embedded” derivatives, and has considered whether any
embedded derivatives would have to be bifurcated, or separated, {rom the host contracts in accordance with
SFAS 133 requirements. No significant embedded derivatives were noted as a result of this exercise.

Fair value of financial instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating the indicated fair values of financial
instruments: :

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the shart maturity of these
{nstruments.

Receivables (other than trade receivables). The fair values are estimated based on one of the following methods:;
(i) quoted market prices; (ii) current rates for similar issues; (iii) recent transactions for similar issues; or (iv)
present value of expected future cash flows.

Short-term debt; The fair value is estimated based on current rates offered for similar debt.

Premier uses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of reducing its exposure to adverse fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Premier is not a party to leveraged derivatives and does not
hold or issue financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

Under UK GAAP, Premier records interest rate derivatives relating to interest payments on its net debts in the
profit and loss account along with the interest payments on net debts according to the accrual method. Premier
records currency derivatives relating to net cash flows in the profit and loss account as such cash flows are -
received or paid; any unrealised gains or losses are deferred at reporting period end. Under US GAAP, currency
derivatives and interest ratc derivatives are designated as hedges of specific underiying assets and liabilities.
Accordingly, these derivatives have also been recorded using the accrual method under US GAAP.

(e) Revaluation of fixed assets

Under UK GAAP, certain tangible fixed assets have been revalued sc that their carrying value is equivalent to
their current market value at that date, as determined by an independent appraiser. Revaluation amounts are
recorded to both tangible fixed assets and reserves and are reduced by accumulated depreciation as appropriate.
Under US GAAP, tangible fixed assets are carmied at cost. Accordingly, revaluation reserves net of accurnulated
depreciation have becn reclassified to long-term assets and related depreciation amounts recorded in the profit
and loss account.

() Fixed asset invesiments

During 1998, Premier purchased shares of Hillsdown on the open market to satisfy stock options granted under
the executive share option scheme, Under UK GAAP, Premier recognised £2.83m as fixed asset investments.
Under US GAAP, such purchases of shares intended for the exercise of stock options by option holders are
recognised by a decrease in shareholders’ equity as treasury stock. During 1999, these shares were cancelled in
connection with the Transaction.
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1g) Stock compensation

During the year ended December 31, 2000, Hillsdown approved a new share option scheme, which included in
its terms the ability to grant share options to certain employees of Premier. Certain share options granted under
this schcme are subject to future performance criteria. The options follow a graded vesting schedule, in that a
third of the shares granted vest at cach fiscal year end following the grant date. For share options subject to
performance criteria, if such criteria are not met, the unvested shares pertaining to that year lapse permanently.
Options can be exercised at any point after vesting, up o ten ycars afier the grant date. Hillsdown has the ability
to repurchase the shares at their fair value after the aptions arc exercised.

Share option activity on share options granted to Premier employees for the years ended December 31, 2000 and
December 31. 2001 was as follows:

Number of shares under
option
2000 2001
Outstanding at January 1. B y - 5,421,284
Granted 6,030,140 .
Lapscd (608,856) (2,792,902}
Outstanding at December 31, 5,421,284 2,628.382
Excrcisable at December 31, 1,401,191 1,538,192

The weighted average exercise price of all options granted, lapsed and outstanding in both 2600 and 2001 was
£1.46.

Share options granted include 321,094 share options that are subject to future performance criteria. The
weighted-average contractual life of options outstanding at December 31, 2001 was 8.5 years. Hillsdown's
management estimates that the grant date fair value of Hillsdown’s shares did not exceed £1.46.

No compensation cost has been recogniscd for this scheme under UK GAAP as the share options have been
granted by Hillsdown Holdings Limited. No compensation cost has been recognised for this scheme under US
GAAP as the grant date fair value of the options was estimated to be less than the exercise price. Also,
compensation cost has not been recognised under US GAAP for options subject to future performance criteria as
it was not considered probable that the future performance criteria would be met as of December 31, 2001.
Premier’s reported net loss during 2001 under US GAAP would not have been materially affected had
compensation expense for the share options granted been determined based upon the fair value at the grant date
for options under this scheme, consistent with the methodology prescribed under SFAS No 123, Accounting for
Mock Based Compensation.  This result is not necessarily indicative of compensation that may be rccognised in
future ycars under US GAAP in respect of these options.

thl Other disclosures required by S GAAP
Cash flow information

Under UK GAAP, Premier’s cash flow statcments are presented in accordance with UK Financial Reporting
Standard No. 1. as revised (‘FRS 17). These statements present substantially the same information as is required
under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, in accordance with US GAAP. Differences between
the two presentations are outlined below.

Under UK GAAP, Premicr’s “cash flow” comprises of increascs or decreases in “cash”, which comprises cash
balances less amounts repayable on demand and overdrafls. Cash flow is defined differently under US GAAP.
For purposcs of presenting cash flow information in accordance with US GAAP, cash flow represents increases
or decreases m “cash and cash equivalents”, which include short term, highly liquid investments with original
matuntics of less than 90 days, and exclude overdrafts.
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Under UK GAAP, cash flows are presented for operating activities; returns on investments and servicing of
finance; taxation; capital expenditure and financial investment; acquisitions and disposals; equity dividends
paid: and management of liquid resources and financing. US GAAP requires the classification of cash flows
resulting from operating, investing and financing activities.

Cash flows under UK GAAP in respect of interest received, interest paid, investment income and taxation are
included within operating activities under US GAAP. Also, under US GAAP, capital expenditures and financial
investment and cash flows from acquisitions and disposals are included within investing activities. Equity
dividends paid and management of liquid resources are included within financing activities.

A summary of Premier’s operating, investing and financing activities, classified in accordance with US GAAP,
follows:

1999 2000 2001

£m £fm fm
Net cash provided by opcrating activities 34.3 30.7 40.1
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities (8.0) (24.5) 59.5
Net cash used in financing activities (109.4) (37.8) (Y8.5) -
Net incrcase / (decrcase) in cash and cash equivalents {83.1) (31.6) 11
Cash and cash equivalents under US GAAP, beginning of year 140.9 57.8 26.2
Cash and cash equivalents under US GAAP, end of year 57.8 26.2 27.3

Restructuring costs

During the vcar ended December 31, 1999, Premier recorded a restructuring charge of £39.2m related to factory
closures and scverance provisions. The severance plan related to employees at Premuer’s Moreton factory and
the Forfar and North Waisham sites of HL Foods, together with the intcgration of administration functions at
HL Foods' head office sitc at Long Sutton and Chivers Hartley’s head office site at Histon. This restructuring
together with capital expenditure driven efficiencics resulted in the severance of approximately 75
administration and 700 manufacturing positions in Premier's canning and preserves businesses and 150
adminiswation and 400 manufacturing positions in Premier’s beverages and biscuits businesses.

For the vear cnded December 31, 2600, a restructuring charge of £2.3m relates to the relocation of Premier’s
French biscuits distribution operation, which has been retained following the disposal of Horizon Biscuits. The
restructuring charge covers the redundancy of approximately 25 sales and administration staff, the termination
of sales agency contracts and distribution contracts.

For the year ended December 31, 2001, the restrucluzing charge of £12,2m relates to the (i) integration of the
administration functions of Premier Brands with those of HL Foods and Chivers Hartley. The charge includes
the redundancy costs of approximately 165 administration staff; (i1) the relocation of the manufacturing facilities
of Stratford on Aven Foods Limited to our cxisting sites at Long Sutton and Bury St Edmunds. The charge
includes the redundancy costs of approximately 130 production and administration staff, and (i1i) further costs
from the relocation of Premicr’s French biscuits distribution operation, which has been retained following the
disposal of Horizon Biscuits. The £1.8m restructuring provision at Dccember 31, 2001, represents the costs still
to be incuired in relation 1o the integration of Premier Brands France, Premier’s French biscuit distribution
company, into Materne, Premier’s French preserves and compote manufacturing and selling operation. The
costs compnise anticipated payments arising from the reorganisatior. of distribution and logistics arrangements.
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. Lease commitments
The (ollowing is a summary of future minimum lease payments for all leases with terms greater than onc ycar:

Operating Finance
Leases Leases

im fm

Fiscal year ending December 31.

2002 53 03

2003 3.8 0.1

204 1.8 -

2005 11 -

2006 0.8 -

Thercafter 35 -
Total future minimum lease payments 16.3 0.4
Less amount representing interest 0.2
Present vatue of net minimum lease payments 0.2
Less currcnt maturities ©.1)
Long term obligation : 0.1

Total rent expense on operaling leases was £6.0m (2000: £8.4m, 1999: £9.3m).
Camprehcnsive income

Comprehensive income is defined as the change in net assets of a business enterprise arising from transactions
and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. [t includes all changes in net assets during the
reporting period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners, The
disclosures required for comprehensive income under US GAAP are substantially similar to these presented in
the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses as prepared under UK GAAP.

Allowance for douhtful receivahles 1999 2000 2001
tm im fm
Balance at January | 1.0 1.0 08
Acquisitions / (disposals) - - 0.2
Charged to costs and expenses 0.2 03 0.6
Deductions (0.2) 05 (.1
Balance at Dccember 31 1.0 08 1.5
Inventory ohsolescence provision 1999 2000 2001
fm fm £m
Balance at January | 2.8 46 55
Charged to costs and expenses 42 2.6 6.3
Deductions (2.4) (R (1.8)
Balancc at December 31 4.0 5.5 10.0

Advertising expense

Costs associated with advertising are expensed in the year incurred. Premier incurred £3.9m of advertising
expenses during 2001 (2000: £6.9m, 1999: £6.6m). :
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Excise taxes

Prcmier was charged and in turn coliected £3.6m (2000: £102.1m, 1999: £79.1m) of excise taxes during 2001.
The decrease in excise taxes charged and in turn collected is due to the sale of FE Barber Limited in January
2001, which was the principal subsidiary of Premicr which charged and collected excise taxes.

Long lived assets apalysed by geographical region Long Lived
Assets
1999 2000 2001
fm fm fm
By geographic region:
United Kingdom 144.5 142.2 103.2
Mainland Europe 11.9 12.6 12.8

156.4 154.8 116.0

The long lived assets detailed above arc presented under US GAAP accounting standards and exclude the
revaluation permitted under UK GA AP accounting standards.

Related party trunsaction

Citadel, a subsidiary of Hillsdown, provides Premier with insurance services. Premier paid Citadel insurance
premium payments for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 of £0.5m, £0.6m and £1.2m
respectively.

Pro forma results of operations

The following unaudited pro forma information presents the results of operations of the Premier, giving pro

forma effect to the following transactions as if they had occurred as of January 1, 2000: (i) SonA; (ii) Lift, and
(1ii) Nelsons.

Pro forma results of acquisitions Year ended
December 31,
2000 2001
im fm
Net sales 1,085.3 868.8
Operating profil 73.0 64.3

The results shown should not be considered indicative of what the results of Premier would have been had the
acquisitions taken place at Jammary 1, 2000, nor should they be considered indicative of future results.

Other classification differences
Consolidated profit and loss accounts

Under UK GAAP, disconlinued opcrations arc recorded when material and separable operations are sold either
during the vear or by the earticr of the finalisation of the annual accounts or three months subsequent to year-
end. Discontinued operations arc disclosed separately within the financial statements and related notes thereto
and prior vear comparative figures are restated to reflect the discontinuance. Under US GAAP, disposals of
businesses that do not constitute separate business segments arc not accounted for as discontinued operations,
and arc recorded and disclosed as asset sales within continuing operations.

Under UK GAAP, items classified as exceptional do not meet the definition of “cxtracrdinary” under US
GAAP, and accordingly urc classified as operating expenses or non-operating expenses as appropriate.
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Under UK GAAP, shipping and handling costs are included in selling and distribution costs. Under US GAAP,
shipping and handling costs are ircluded in cost of sales.

Consolidated balance sheets

Under UK GAAP, Premicr classifics non-current receivables due later than one year as current assets. Non-
current receivables are classified as non-current assets under US GAAP.

Under UK GAAP, debt issuance costs are netted against the related debt balances and are amortised over the
term of the underlving debt. Under US GAAP, debt issuance costs are capitalised as assets on the balance sheet,
separate from the related debt, and are amortised over the term of the underlying debt.

Recently issued accounting standards
United Kingdom

FRS 19, 'Deferred tax'

FRS 19 introduces a form of “full” provision for accounting for deferred tax (called the “incremental liability”
approach) that replaces the ‘partial’ provision method in SSAP 15. Deferred tax should be provided on timing
differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date, but only when the entity has an
obligation to pay more tax in the future as a result of the reversal of those timing differences.

Premier will implement FRS 19 with effect from January 1, 2002,
United States

SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 141. Business Combinations (“SFAS 141"). The Statement is effective for all business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 and for all business combinations accounted for by the purchase
method that are completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS 141 prohbits the pooling-of-interests method of
accounting for business combinations and prescribes the initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and
other intangible assets, accounting for ncgative goodwill and the required disclosures in respect of business
combinations. Premict has adapted SFAS 141 on accounting for the acquisitions of Lift and Nelsons, which
were completed in September 2001 and October 2001 respectively.

In July 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other
intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), The Statement is effective for Premier’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2002.
FAS 142 requires that goodwill, including previously existing goodwill, and intangible assets with indefinite
uscful lives notl be amortized. Reporting units must be identified for the purpose of assessing potential future
impairments of goodwill. The assessment of whether goodwill has beern impaired must be performed at least
annuallv. Intangible assets with finitc uscful lives will continue to be amortized over their estimated useful
lives. However, the forty-ycar limitation on the amortization period of intangible assets that have indefinite
lives has been removed.

SFAS 142 requires that goodwill be tested annually for impairment using a two-step process. The first step is to
identifv a potential impairment and, in transition, this step must be measured as of the beginning of the fiscal
vear. However. a company has six months from the datc of adoption to complete the first step. The second step
of the goodwill impairment test measures thc amount of the impairment loss (measured as of the beginning of
the vear of adoption), if any, and must be completed by the end of the company’s fiscal year. Intangible asscts
deemicd to have an indefinite life will be tested for impairment using a onc-step process, which compares the fair
value to the carrying amount of the asset as of the beginning of the fiscal year.
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Prcmier will adopt the provisions of SFAS 142 with cffect from January 1, 2002. At December 31, 2001,
Premier had unamortized goodwill of £33.5m under US GAAP, which will be subject to the transition
provisions of SFAS 142, Amortization expense under US GAAP related to goodwill was £5.9m, £7.1m and
£19.2m for the vears ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Because of the extensive effort
nceded to comply with adopting SFAS 142, it is not practicable to reasonably estimate the impact of adopting
SFAS 142 on Premier’s financial statements, including whether any transitional impairment losses will be
required to be recognized as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles.

SFAS No. 143

FASB Statement No. 143, “Accounting for Obligations Associated with the Retirement of Long-Lived Assets”
("SFAS 143™), was issued in July 2001. This standard will be effective for Premier's fiscal year beginning
January 1, 2003 and provides the accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with tangible
long-lived assets. The standard requires that the obligation associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived
assets be capitalized into the asset cost at the time of initial recognition. The liability is then discounted to its
fair value at the time of recognition using the guidance provided by that standard The requirements of this
standard will be reflected as a cumulative effect adjustment to income. Premier has not completed its evaluation
of the impact of SFAS No. 143 on the Group’s results of operations, financial position, or liquidity.

SFAS No. 144

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets” ("SFAS 144”). The objectives of SFAS 144 are to address issues relating to the implementation of .
FASB Statement No. 121, “Accounting for thc Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to
Be Disposed Of” (“SFAS 1217), and 1o develop a single accounting model based on the framework established
in SFAS 121. for long-lived assets to be disposed of by salc. The standard requires that long-lived assets that
are to be disposed of by sale be measured at the lower of book value or fair value less cost to sell. Additionally,
the standard expands the scope of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations
that can be distinguished from the rest of the entity and will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the
entity in a disposal transaction. This statement will be effective for Premicr’s fiscal year beginning January 1,
2002, and generally, its provisions are to be applied prospectively. Premier is currently evaluating the impact of
this statement on the its results of operaticns, financial position, or liquidity.
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We have prepared the following selected historical combined and consolidated financial
data as of and for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2001. The selected
consolidated historical financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 1999, December
31, 2000 and December 31, 2001 are derived from our historical financial statements included
elsewhere in this report, which have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, independent
Chartered Accountants. The selected historical combined financial data as of and for the two
years in the two year period ended December 31, 1998 are derived from our historical financial
statements not ncluded in this report, which were previously audited by KPMG Audit Plc,
independent Chartered Accountants.

The audited historical combined and consolidated financial statements of Premier have
been prepared in accordance with UK GAAP, which differs in certain material respects from US
GAAP. The principal differences between UK GAAP and US GAAP are summarized in Note 24
to our audited historical consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

You should read the following information in conjunction with the discussion of our
operating results and liquidity and capital resources included in the section entitled “Operating
and Financial Review and Prospects™ and our audited historical consolidated financial statements
and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this report.
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1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 20011
In millions except for EBITDA margin
Profil and Loss Data:
Asnounts in accordance with UK GAAP:
Tumover

ContinuIng..........cccvvromrecrnvecennes £ 7359 £ 800.9 £ 8543 £ 8185 L 8452 $1,2292
Discontinued............cocovvrvevirennne 315.1 2893 234 8 215.1 41 6.0
Subtotal ... £1,051.0 £1,090.2 £1,089.1 £1,033.6 £ 8493 $1,235.2

Operaung profit (hefore operating
exceptional items) (2)

Continuing..... £ 486 £ 464 £ 54.7 £ 60.1 £ 64.3 § 935
Discontinued.. 9.9 11.9 9.4 9.1 (0.8) 1.2
Subtotal ... £ 585 £ 583 £ 64.1 £ 6Y.2 £ 63.5 § 947
Profithloss) ...........covevieiiieie e £ 33.1 £29.1 (£ 326) (£ 78) (£ 282) (8 41.0)
Amounts in accordance with US GAAP:
Nutsales .o, £1,0802 £1,089.1 £1,033.6 £8493 $1,2352
lncome/(loas)tromoperahom (1) T 25.2 8.0) 59.7 87.0 126.5
Netincome / (10SS) ..ooovvvvnnemeenienns £ 20 (£ 455 (¢ 134) £ 378 § 550
Other Finuncial Data:
Amounts ip accordance with UK GAAP:
EBITDA (4)..ccooovne £ 815 £ 8lS £ 877 £ 915 £ 821 § 1194
EBITDA margin (5).-ocveoervrenrerinrenss 7.8% 7.5% 3.1% £.9% 9.7% 9. 7%
Depreciation and amortization.... ........ £ 232 £ 232 £ 236 £223 £ 186 $ 270
Capital expenditure (6)...............o..oo... 24.1 441 23.0 26.5 20.1 26.2 .
Amounts in accordance with US GAAP: )
EBITDA @)oo, £ %41 £ 947 £ 949 £ 882 $ 1283
EBITDA margin (5)......cooc..... 7. 7% 8. 7% 9.2% 10.4% 10.4%
Depreciation and amortization £ 514 £428 £294 £245 $ 356
Capital expenditure (6).........coevvvenenes, ‘ - 41 230 26.5 20.1 29.2
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):
Amounts in accordance with UK GAAP:
Total @ssels oo £ 6389 £ 679.1 t 5572 £ 5163 £ 4193 3 609.8
Intercompany borrowings ................... 2604 3170 - - - .
Net combined assets 180.0 1400 n/a Nfa nfa nfa
Shareholder’s deficit u n/a (198.6) (207.6) (160.2)  ($233.0)

Amounts in accordance with US GAAP:
ToELaSSELS oo, £ 7346 £ 6033 £ 35790 £ 418 § 687.6

Intercompany borrowings ... 317.0 - - - -
Net combined assets........... 173.7 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Sharchalder’s deticit..........coocovveraeee, Na (172.9) (187.3) (126.8) (3 184.4)

See accompanying notes on the following pages.
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Amounts have been translated for convenience at the noon buying rate on December 31, - -
2001 of $1.4543 to £1.00.

Aggregate UK GAAP exceptional items include both operating and non-operating
exceptional items. See Note 3 to the audited historical consolidated financial statements
of Premier for further information on operating and non-operating exceptional items for
each of 1999, 2000 and 2001,

The following table reconciles operating profit in accordance with UK GAAP to income /
(loss) from operations in accordance with US GAAP:

Year Ended December 31,
1999 2000 2001
(in millions)
Operating profit (before operating exceptional items) in accordance .
With UK GAAP..........oi e £64.1 £69.2 £635
Operating exceptional items as defined under UK GAAP (52.4) (1.6) (12.2)
T.oss on sale of discontinued operations under UK GAAP (7.5) . (42 (29.6)
US GAAP adjustments:
Pension costs ........... bttt e en e 7.0 34 52
Amortization of goodwill ... ..... (19.2) a0 (5.9
Derivative financial instruments - - 0.9
Adjustrments to UK GAAP loss on sale of discontinued operations - - 65.1
Income / (loss) {rom operations in sccordance with US GAAP £(8.0) £359.7 £ 87.0

As presented herein, EBITDA represents, for UK GAAP presentation purposes, operating
profit before both aperating and non-operating exceptional items and depreciation and
amortization of intangible assets and pension prepayments. EBITDA, as calculated for
US GAAP presentation purposes, represents the sum of earnings from all operations, in
each case before related net interest expense, taxation expense, depreciation, amortization
of intangible assets and pension prepayments and all items identified as exceptional items
(both operating and non-operating excepticnal items) under UK GAAP. Although none
of such exceptional items would represent extraordinary items under US GAAP, our
management believes that such exceptional items are non-recurring. EBITDA is not a
measurement of operating performance calculated in accordance with US GAAP or UK
GAAP, and should not be considered as a substitute for operating income, profit after
taxes or cash flows from operating activities, as determined by US GAAP or UK GAAP,
or as a measure of profitability or liquidity. EBITDA does not necessarily indicate
whether cash flow will be sufficient or available for cash requirements. EBITDA may not
be indicative of our historical operating results and is not meant to be a prediction of our
future results. Because all companies do not calculate EBITDA identically, the
presentation of EBITDA contained herein may not be comparable to similarly entitled
measures of other companies.
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The following table reconciles EBITDA presented under UK GAAP to EBITDA
presented under US GAAP:

Yeur Ended December 31,
1999 2000 2001
(in millions)

EBITDA presented under UK GAAP......covcevininnen £877 £91.5 £82.1
US GAAP adjustments:

Derivative finuncial instruments. .......c...coccceenniiveren. - - 0.5

PENSION COSLS . vovrviiee e e recebesremeeeeresin e e e 7.0 34 5.2
FBITDA presented under US GAAP ..o £94.7 - £949 88.2

As presented herein, EBITDA margin represents, for UK GAAP presentation purposes,
EBITDA divided by turnover from both continuing and discontinued operations.
EBITDA margin as calculated for US GAAP presentation purposes represents EBITDA
divided by turnover. EBITDA margin is not a measure of operating performance
calculated in accordance with US GAAP or UK GAAP, and should not be considered as a
substitute for operating income, profit after taxes or cash flows from operating activities,
as determined by US GAAP or UK GAAP, or as a measure of profitability or liquidity.
EBITDA margin does not necessarily indicate whether cash flow will be sufficient or
available for cash requirements. EBITDA margin may net be indicative of the historical
operating results of Premier and is not meant to be a prediction of potential future results.
Because all companies do not calculate EBITDA margin identically, the presentation of
EBITDA margin contained herein may not be comparable to similarly entitled measures
of ather companies.

Capital expenditure comprises the cash expenditure for the purchase of tangible fixed
assets, together with capital lease funds applied to capital expenditure. Capital
expenditure 1n 1998 includes £14.0 million for the purchase of the freehold estate of one
of our major sites from a related company of Hillsdown. 4
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Operating Results

The following is a discussion of vur financial condition and consolidated results of
operations for 1999, 2000 and 2001, and of the significant factors affecting them. You should
read the following discussion in conjunction with the "Selected Historical Combined and
Consolidated Financial Data" and our audited consolidated historical financial statements and
the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this report. You should note that our financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with UK GAAP, which differs in certain material
respects from US GAAP. The most significant differences between UK GAAP and US GAAP are
described in Note 24 10 our consolidated financial statements included in this report.

Overview

We manufacture and market grocery products for the retail grocery and food service
markets in four principal product types: (1) canned foods, pickles and sauces, (ii) beverages; (i11)
preserves; and (iv) potatoes. Until January 2001, when we disposed of our biscuits operations,
we also manufactured and marketed biscuits and cookies. Our products are sold under both
private label and our popular brand names, which include HP canned foods, Typhoo tea,
Cadbury's chocolate dnnk mixes, Marvel milk powdered creamer, Chivers and Hartley's
preserves and Materne jam. We also operate a potato packing and trading business. Until
February 2001, when vie disposed of our wines and spirits operations, we also had a pnvate label
wines and spirits bottling business.

Significant Factors Affecting Qur Operating Results
Acquisitions, Disposals and Restructuring

We have historically pursued a strategy of both internal and external growth. As a result,
we have made a number of acquisitions, dispositions and restructurings which have affected our
results of operations during the past three years. The following is a summary of our key
acquisitions, dispositions and internal restructurings that we have undertaken since January 1,
1999

e In March 1999, we disposed of Holco BV, our mushroom-canning business in the
Netherlands, for £24.0 million.

o In April 1999, we acquired Jonker Fris BV ("Jonker Fris"), a Dutch canning and bottling
business, for £5.8 million. -

¢ In May 1999, we acquired Bein Confitures S.A. ("Boin"), a French preserve/compote
business, for £10.4 million. During 2000, we consolidated our jam manufacturing at our
Boin facility and our compote manufacturing at our Materne facility.

* I[n June 1999, we, together with Hillsdown's furniture and poultry businesses, were
acquired by Hicks Muse for £919.2 million. As part of the acquisition, Hillsdown
undertook a reorganization in which it transferred its furniture and poultry businesses to
other entities controlled by Hicks Muse and recapitalised Premicr as a stand-alone
grocery business for £683 2 million. The recapitalisation was funded from (i) £330.7
million of borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility, (it} £197.5 million of proceeds
from the issuance of the Notes and (iii) £236.0 million equity investments made by Hicks
Muse.
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¢ Following our acquisition in 1999, we embarked on a significant restructuring program to
improve the efficiency of our operations and reduce our cost bise. We combined our
main grocery products operating divistons into a single operation. In connection with the
restructuring, we incurred a restructuring charge of £37.5 million relating to the closure of
our Forfar canning factory, the ‘mothballing’ of a significant portion of our North
Walsham canning factory and a headcount reduction program both in direct and
administrative labor. Following the sale of our biscuit operations in January 2001, we
further rationalised our administrative functions, incurring a further charge of £4.5
million. '

¢ In November 1999, we disposed of Chivers Ireland Limited, our preserve manufacturing
business in the Republic of Ireland, for £5.2 million. We used the net proceeds to prepay
the scheduled amortization payment of £5.0 million due in June 2000 under the Senior
Credit Facility.

* In January 2001, we sold our biscuits operations to Eubisco Limited, an affiliate of ours,
for £92.0 mullion, but retained our French biscuits distribution business. Eubisco Limited
was formed by Hicks Muse in connection with its acquisition of Burton’s Gold Medal
Biscuits from Associated British Foods in October 2000. We used the proceeds from the
sale to reduce the balance due under our Senior Credit Facility. ‘

» In February 2001, we sold FE Barber Limited, our wines and spirits subsidiary for £10.9
million. We used the proceeds from the sale to reduce the balance due under our Senior
Credit Facility. '

¢ In Apnl 2001, we acquired the canned foods, pickles and sauces business of Stratford on
Avon Foods Limited (“SonA”™), for £12.9 million. This business has been integrated into
our existing canned foods, pickles and sauces operations.

¢ In September 2001, we acquired the ‘Lift’ instant lemon tea business (“Lift”) for £8.3
million. This business has been integrated into our existing beverages operations.

s In October 2001, we acquired the assets and trade of Nelson’s of Aintree Limited
(“Nelsons™), a company manufacturing sweet preserves for £7.5 million. This business is
being integrated into our existing preserves operations.

Currency Fluctuation

Although over 85% of our business is conducted in the United Kingdom, we have
operations in France and the Netherlands. We source raw materials from countries around the
world and export aur products to vanious countries. Therefore, our financial position and results
of operations are subject to both currency transaction risk and currency translation risk.

Our operating subsidiartes incur currency transaction risk whenever they enter into either
a purchase or sales transaction using a currency other than that in which they regularly operate
and incur their expenses. We enter into forward currency contracts to hedge against our exposure
to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations in the purchase of raw materials and in our export
business. As of December 31, 2001 we had £32.7 million nominal value of forward currency
contracts, cross currency swaps and interest rate swaps, with an appregate unrealized net gain of
£5.5 million on those instruments at that date. :
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With respect to currency translation risk, the financial condition and results of operations
of our non-UK businesses are measured and recorded in the relevant domestic currency of the
jurisdiction in which the business is located and then translated into pounds sterling for inclusion
in our consolidated financial statements. The pound sterling appreciated against the euro by
12.9% during 1999 and had a negative impact on our sales and operating profit as reported in
pounds sterling. The exchange rate has remained comparatively stable during 2000 and 2001.

Industry Factors

Our financial condition and results of operation are also influenced by industry trends. In
recent years, there has been increased consolidation among the major grocery retailers in the
United Kingdom as well as in continental Europe. In 1998, two of the major retail food chains in
the United Kingdom, Somerfield and KwikSave, merged. In addition, Wal-Mart entered the UK
market through its 1999 acqusition of ASDA, one of the UK’s largest grocery retailers. In
continental Europe, two major grocery retailers, Carrefour and Promodes, merged in 1999 to
create the largest retailer in France. This consolidation has increased price competition among
suppliers to the major retail food chains, and may ultimately lead to greater consolidation among
such suppliers. As a result, grocery retailers and manufacturers frequently engage in pricing
campaigns such as “Everyday Low Price” and “Buy One/Get One Free” in order to promote their
products and gain market share. These campaigns have generally lowered our margins by
increasing our short-term promotion costs, but this effect is partially offset by the addittonal sales
made as a result of these campaigns. While we believe that our relationships with our retail
customers are strong, the continuation of the trend of consolidation could have a matenial adverse
tmpact on our results of operations.

Seavonality

Historically, our sales have been higher during the first and fourth quarters than during
the second and third quarters. Within our canned foods business, consumer demand tends to be
higher in the colder months of the year, with increased sales during the autumn and winter and
lower sales duning the spring and summer. Our hot chocolate and malted drinks business is
affected by seasonal changes in temperature, with sales usually declining during the warm
summer months. We generally have a significant increase in sales by our preserves, pickles and
sauces business during the pre-Christmas period. In addition, our working capital requirements
are affected by the seasonal nature of our sales and production as a portion of our seasonal canned
products is packed during the months from July to September.
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As a result of the seasonality of our sales, the resuits of our operations for any gtven fiscal-
quarter will not necessarily be indicative of our results for the full year. The sales of our principal
product groups (excluding potatoes) in the four fiscal quarters of 2001 are shown in the table

below:

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2001
First Second Third Fourth Total
Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter
(in £ millions)

Sales
Canned foods. pickles and sauces (i) .........cccrcenee. 85.8 854 79.5 91.8 3425
Beverages (i) ..o, s 46.6 41.1 414 453 174 4
Preserves (i) ..o e e 32.7 31.9 309 323 127.8
165.1 158.4 151.8 1694 644.7
ACQUISTHONS .........oceciereec st ce s e neseens 27.1
POALOES (IV) ..oovieeeiei e e 157.3
Tumover from continuing operations...........cco.... 845.2

(1) Excluding salcs from SonA of £19.9 million.

(11) Excluding sales from Lift of £1.2 million.

(u11) Excluding salcs from Nelsons of £6.0 million.

(1v) Potatoes arc cxcluded from the seasonality table as the value of our potato sales is principally dependent on

the pricc at which potatoes are traded in the commodity markets, which is principally dependent on the quality
and size of the UK potato harvest, which can vary significantly from year to year.
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Operating Results

The following table summarises our operating results before operating exceptional items
for each of 1999, 2000 and 2001. The table has been derived from and should be read in
conjunction with our audited consolidated historical financial statements and the related notes
included elsewhere 1n this report. The results of operations for 1999, 2000 and 2001 presented
below have been restated to reflect the disposal of our biscuits and wines and spirits operations in

the first quarter of 2001.
Year Ended December 31,
1999 % of total 2000 %oftotal 2001 % of total
sales sales sales
(in £ millions except for percentage data)
Sales
Continuing operations
Canned foods, pickles and sauces  321.6 29.5 3376 327 3624 427
Beverages....ooovveiiiiiieicees 2233 20.5 193.8 18.8 175.6 20.7
PIeSErVes .......ccovvevernrvrneninerevnnen, 143.5 13.2 135.0 13.0 133.8 15.7
Potatoes........oco e, 135.6 12.5 1325 12.8 1573 185
Other......coomrviiencrecnrnan N 30.3 2.8 19.6 1.9 16,1 1.9
Total continuing operations......... 8543 78.5 818.5 79.2 845.2 99.5
Discontinued operations
Biscuits and caokies................... 160.4 14.7 159.6 15.4 - -
Wines and spifits...........c..ccceeecn. 56.5 52 52.7 5.1 1.9 02
Holco, Chivers Irefand and Others  17.9 1.6 2.8 0.3 22 0.3
Total discontinued operations .....  234.8 215 215.1 20.8 4.1 0.5
Totalsales.......ccoooivivinen. 1,089.1 140.0 1,033.6 1060.0 8493 100.0
Costofsales ..o, (837.5) (76.9)  (788.8) (76.3) (666.9) (77.8)
Gross profil ....ccooovieevvoreieeire e, 251.6 23.1 2448 237 188.4 22.2
Selling and distribution....................... (151.1) (13.9) (142.9) (13.8) (98.1) (11.5)
Administration costs...........ccoeveeen. (36.4) (3.3) (32.7) (3.2) (26.8) (3.2)
Opcerating profit before operating
cxceptional iems...........ooceiiennennen, 64.1 5.9 69.2 6.7 63.5 7.5
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The following table analyses our sales by geographical origin and geographical market for
each of 1999, 2000 and 2001. The table has been derived from and should be read in conjunction
with our audited consolidated historical financial statements and the related notes included

elsewhere in this report.

Turnover by geographical Turnover by geographical
origin market

1999 2000 2001 1999 2000 2001

£m fm £fm £m fm fm
United Kingdom 724.1 694.9 7234 698.2 681.9 712.3
Mainland Europe 130.2 123.6 121.8 148.1 129.3 124 4
Other countries - - - 8.0 7.3 8.5
Continuing operations 8543 8185 845.2 8543 818.5 845.2
Discontinued operations 234 8 215.1 4.1 234.8 215.1 4.1
Total 1,089.1 1,033.6 849.3 1,089.1 1,033.6 849.3

“Sales” 1s the value of sales, excluding transactions with or between wholly owned
subsidiaries, after deductions of sales rebates, value added tax and other sales related taxes. Sales
are recognized upon receipt of confirmation that the goods shipped have been accepted by the
customer, where the sales price is fixed and collectability is reasonably assured. Sales 1s also
referred to as “Turnover” in the audited consolidated historical financial statements and
accompanying notes included elsewhere in this report. We derive our sales principally from
selling canned foods, beverages, preserves, pickles and sauces and potatoes. Our principal
geographic markets are the United Kingdom, which accounted for approximately 81.7%, 83.3%
and 84.3% and France, which accounted for 12.8%, 11.1% and 10.1% of the sales of our
continuing operations in 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively. Sales of our own branded products
and private labe! products represented approximately 38% and 49%, respectively of our 2001
sales. The remaining sales principally comprised food service and sales of commodity products.

“Cost of sales™ consists of costs directly attributable to manufacturing, including raw
materials, packaging, labour, energy, other utilities and overhead costs attributable to the
manufacturing processes and factories. Principal raw materials we use include tea, sugar,
vegetables, fruit and cocoa. Manufacturing overheads include plant supervision and management
costs, technical and engineering support costs, health and safety compliance costs, maintenance
and insurance costs, quality control costs and depreciation expenses relating to manufacturing
equipment.

“Selling and distribution expenses™ consist of selling costs, which include advertising,
direct and indirect marketing, costs of promotions and labor and averhead costs attributable to the
sales function. Our promotional costs include, among other things, discounts we give to retailers
in connection with product-specific promotions. Distribution costs include freight, warehousing,
labor and overhead costs attributable to the distribution function.

The division of our products into branded and private label makes the comparison of
gross profit after marketing expenses the principal measurement tool to determine the
profitability of our product lines. This is because the higher sales value of branded products
yields higher gross margias but the branded products require significant marketing expenditure.
Therefore, to be able to compare similar branded and private label products it is necessary to

deduct the marketing expenditure incurred in supporting the branded products.
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“Administrative expenses” comprise labour and costs directly attributable to the finance,
human resources, procurement, information technalogy and general management functions.

“Net interest expense” principally comprises interest paid on our Notes, our Senior Credit
Facility and overdrafis less interest receivable on cash deposits. Also included 1n our interest
expense are the amortization of the capitalized debt issuance costs and exchange gaims or losses
on our US dollar-denominated Notes.

“Tax” principally comprises income taxes to which we are subject in the various countries
in which we have operations. We attempt to minimise the tax payable in each jurisdiction by
using appropriate tax strategies. Our current high level of leverage (and hence interest payable)
reduces our tax payable on our operating profit. Our tax payable is likely to increase as we repay
our debt under the Senior Credit Facility and hence reduce our net interest payable.

Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000

Continuing operations

Salesx  Sales from continuing operations were £845.2 million for 2001, an increase of
£26.7 mullion, or 3.3%, as compared to sales for 2000 of £818.5 million. The increase in sales
was principally due to (i) an increase of £24.8 million in the value of sales of potatoes following
an increase in the market price of potatoes due to a poor UK harvest in the second half of 2000,
and (i1) the acquisitions of (a) SonA in April 2001, which contributed £19.9 million of sales in
2001; (b) Lift, which contributed £1.2 million of sales in 2001; and (c) Nelsons, which
contributed £6.0 million of sales in 2001, The increase in sales was offset by a reduction in tea
sales of £18.2 million and a decrease in sales by our existing preserves businesses of £7.2 million.

Canned foods, pickles and sauces

Sales of canned foods, pickles and sauces were £362.4 million for 2001, an increase of
£24 8 mullion, or 7.3%, over sales of £337.6 million for 2000. The increase in sales was primarily
due to (i) a £5.2 million, or 20.5%, increase in sales by Jonker Fris (which we acquired in April
1999) as we continued to leverage the synergies available following the acquisition and (ii) sales
of £19.9 million from the trade acquired from SonA.

Beverages

Sales of beverages were £175.6 million for 2001, a decrcase of £18.2 million, or 9.4%,
compared to sales of £193.8 for 2000. The decrease in sales was due to a reduction in both sales
value and volume of branded tea as a result the repositioning of our marketing strategy in the
middle of 2000 away from “Buy One Get One Free” and other deep discounting activities to net
pricing by lowering the selling prices of products supported by traditional marketing
programmes. The effect of the change in marketing strategy was to increase the gross profit after
marketing expenses despite the reduction in overall sales and gross profit. The acquisition of
Lift, which we acquired in September 2001, contributed £1.2 million in sales.
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Preserves

Sales of preserves were £133.8 million for 2001, a decrease of £1.2 million, or 0.9%, as
compared to sales of £135.0 million for 2000. The decrease in sales was principally due to (i) a
competitive UK market which led to a £3.6 million decrease in sales by our existing UK
operation, and (ii) a £3.6 million decrease in sales by our French operation due to distribution
problems that arose during the integration of our French preserves and biscuits operations. This
decrease was offset by sales of £6.0 million from Nelsons, which we acquired in October 2001.

Potatoes

Sales of potatoes were £157.3 million for 2001, an increase of £24.8 million or 18.7%, as
compared to sales of £132.5 million for 2000. The increase arose from an average 44.0%
increase in the price per tonne sold during the first half of 2001 following the poor UK potato
harvest in the second half of 2000. The tonnage of potatoes sold in 2001 was 881,000 tonnes, an
increase of 16,500 tonnes or 1.9% on 2000,

Other

Other sales were £16.1 miltion for 2001, a decrease of £3.5 million, or 17.9%, compared
to £19.6 mitlion for 2000, Other sales are sales by our French biscuits distribution operation.
The decrease was due to distribution problems that arose during the integration of our French
preserves and biscuits operations combined with supply problems from our UK biscuits supplier.

Discontinued Operations

Sales of wines and spirits were £1.9 million for January 2001. The wines and spirits
business was sold in February 2001, The remaining £2.2 million of sales by discontinued
operations in 2001 represents sales made by a non-core non-grocery business, which has been put
into liquidation in March 2002.

Premier Consolidated

Gross Profit. Gross profit before operating exceptional items for our overall operations
was £188.4 million for 2001, a decrease of £56.4 million, or 23.0%, compared to gross profit
before operating exceptional items of £244.8 million for 2000. The principal cause of the
decrease In gross profit before operating exceptional items was the sale of our biscuit
manufacturing business in January 2001 and wines and spirits business in February 2001. Gross
margin decreased to 22.2% for 2001 from 23.7% for 2000. For continuing operations, gross
profit before operating exceptional items was £188.0 million for 2001, a decrease of £10.1
million, or 5. 1%, over gross profit before operating exceptional items of £198.1 mullion for 2000.
Gross margin for continuing operations decreased from 24.2% for 2000 to 22.2% for 2001, The
principal causes of the decrease in gross margin was thc repositioning of our tea marketing
strategy and the increase 1n the market price of potatoes.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses. Selling and distribution expenses before operating
exceptional items were £98.1 million for 2001, a decrease of £44.8 million, or 31.4%, compared
to selling and distribution expenses before operating exceptional items of £142.9 million for
2000. The principal cause of the decrease in selling and distribution expenses before operating
exceptional items was the sale of our biscuit manufacturing business in January 2001 and wines
and spirits business in February 2001. For continuing operations, selling and distribution
expenses before operating exceptional items were £97.6 million for 2001, a decrease of £15.8
million, or 13.9%, over selling and distribution expenses before operating exceptional items of
£113.4 million for 2000. The principal causes of the decrease 1n selling and distribution expenses
before operating exceptional items was the repositioning of our tea marketing strategy which
reduced marketing costs on tea by £19.1 million offset by an increase in marketing expenses for
the other operations of £5.9 million.

Administrative Costs. Administrative costs before operating exceptional items were
£26.8 million for 2001, a decrease of £5.9 million, or 18.0%, compared to administrative costs
before operating exceptional items of £32.7 million for 2000. The principal cause of the decrease
in administrative costs before operating exceptional items was the sale of our biscuit
manufacturing business in January 2001 and wines and spints business in February 2001. For
continuing businesses, administrative expenses before operating exceptional items were £26.1
million, an increase of £1.5 million, or 6.1%, over administrative expenses before operating
exceptional items of £24.6 million for 2000. The principal causes of the increase were the
acquisitions of the SonA and Nelsons.

Operating Profit Before Operating Exceptional Items. Operating profit before operating
exceptional items was £63.5 million for 2001, a decrease of £5.7 million, or 8.2%, over operating
profit before operating exceptional items of £69.2 million for 2000. The principal cause of the
decrease in operating profit before operating exceptional items was the sale of our biscuit
manufacturing business in January 2001 and wines and spirits business in February 2001.
Operating margin increased to 7.5% for 2001 from 6.7% for 2000. For continuing businesses,
operating profit before operating exceptional items was £64.3 million, an increase of £4.2
million, or 7.0%, over operating profit before operating exceptional items of £60.1 million for
2000. This improvement in operating margins reflects the reductions in selling and distribution
expenses, partly offset by the decrease in gross profit, as discussed above.

Operating exceptional items. Operating excéptiona] items in 2001 comprise the
following principal items:

o A charge of £4.5 million I relation to the transfer of administration functions from our
Moreton site to our Histon and Long Sutton sites. This charge includes the redundancy costs
of approximately 165 administration staf¥;

« A charge of £3.5 million 1n relation to the restructuring of production facilities, principally
the integration of the SonA production facilities into our existing facilities at Long Sutton,
Wisbech and Bury, and the closure and sale of the SonA site. This charge includes the
redundancy costs of approximately 130 production and administration staff;

¢ A charge of £4.2 million in relation to the restructurning of distribution arrangements,

principally relating to the integration of our French biscuits distribution operanons nto our
. French preserves operations.
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* Operating exceptional items in 2000 comprise the following itern:

e A charge of £1.6 million relating to the further restructuring of our canned foods, pickles and
sauces production facilities

Non-operating exceptional items. Non-operating exceptional items in 2001 comprise the
following principal items:

e A loss on disposal of £25.5 million on the sale of our biscuits operations. This includes the
write off of £53.0 million of goodwill that had previously been written off to reserves;

¢ A loss on disposal of our wines and spirits operations of £4.1m,
¢ A profit on disposal of surplus properties of £3.4 million.
Non-operating exceptional items in 2000 comprise the following principal items:

¢ A charge of £4.2 million which was an adjustment to the loss on disposal of subsidiaries, that
were disposed of in prior years.

» A loss on disposal of surplus properties of £1.6 muillion.

Net Interest Payable. Net interest payable was £52.7 million for 2001, which comprised
£7.5 milhon of amortization charges on our capitalized debt issuance costs, £3.6 million of
exchange losses on the translation of the principal amount of the US dollar denominated Notes
and a net £41.6 million payable on the Notes, our Senior Credit Facility and other borrowings and
cash. Net interest payable was £67.9 million for 2000, which comprised £58 mullion of
amortization charges on our capitalized debt issuance costs, £10.0 million of exchange losses on
the translation of the principal amount of the US dollar denominated Notes and a net £52.1
million payable on the Notes, our Senior Credit Facility and other borrowings and cash. The
decrease of net interest payable in 2001 on the Notes, our Senior Credit Facility and other

borrowings and cash was principally due to the utilisation of the proceeds from the sales of our ‘

biscuit manufacturing and wines and spirits businesses 1n reducing our term debt.

Tax on prafitiioss on ordinary activities. Tax on loss on ordinary activities was £0.6
million for 2001 as compared to a tax charge of £1.7 million for 2000.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1999
"‘Continuing operations

Sales. Sales from continuing operations were £818.5 million for 2000, a decrease of
£35.8 million, or 4.2%, as compared to sales for 1999 of £854.3. The decrease in sales was due
to (i) the cancellation of a number of loss-making contracts in our French biscuits distribution
company, (i) the impact of the “Every Day Low Pricing” campaigns of our major customers
which resulted in general price deflation of 3% across the grocery products sector as a whole and
over 10% in the tea sector and (in) currency translation loss of £10.3 million in sales by our
European substidiaries as a result of the appreciation in pound sterling against the euro over the
same penod in 1999,
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Canned foods, pickles and sauces

Sales of canned foods, pickles and sauces were £337.6 million for 2000, an increase of
£16.0 million, or 5.0%, over sales of £321.6 million for 1999. The increase in sales was primarily
due to (i) a full year's contribution from Jonker Fris (which we acquired in April 1999) which
yielded an additional £6.0 million of sales and (i) an increase in sales of £10.0 million from
volume increases over a wide range of products.

Beverages

-

Sales of beverages were £193.8 million for 2000, a decrease of £29.5 million, or 13.2%,
compared to sales of £223.3 million for 1999. The decrease in sales was due to a reduction in
both sales value and volume of private-label tea as a result of the "Every Day Low Pricing"
campaigns of our major customers. These campaigns eroded the price differential between
branded and private Jabel products thus encouraging consumers to switch from private label to
branded tea. The decrease was also due to the repositioning of our marketing strategy away from
“Buy One Get One Free” and other deep discounting activities to net pricing by lowering the
selling prices of products supported by traditional marketing programmes. Our objective in
changing our marketing strategy was to increase the gross profit after marketing expenses despite
the reduction in overall sales and gross profit.

Preserves

Sales of preserves were £135.0 million for 2000, a decrease of £8.5 million, or 5.9%, as
compared to sales of £143.5 million for 1999. The decrease in sales was pnncipally due to (1)
currency translation losses of £7.0 million in sales by Materne and Boin as a result of the
appreciation in pound sterling against the euro over 1999 and (ii) general price deflation in the
grocery products market These decreases were offset by additional sales arising from the
acquisition of Boin in 1999.

Potatoes

Sales of potatoes were £132,5 million for 2000, a decreasc of £3.1 million or 2.3%, as
compared to sales of £135.6 million for 1999. The decrease arose from an 11.0% decline in the
price per tonne sold which was partially offset by a 9.8% increase in the tonnage of potatoes sold.

Other

Other sales were £19.6 million for 2000, a decrease of £10.7 million, or 35.3%, compared
to £30.3 million for 1999. Other sales are sales by our French biscuits distribution operation.
The decrease was a result of (i) currency translation losses of £1.6 million in sales by our French
biscuits distribution company, as a result of the appreciation in pound sterling against the euro
over 1999 and (1) the cancellation of a number of loss-making contracts by our French biscuits
distrtbution company.
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Discontinued Operations
Biscuits and Cookies

Sales of biscuits and cookies were £159.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000,
a decrease of £0.8 million, or 0.5%, compared to sales of £160.4 million for the same period in
1999. The decrease in sales was primarily due to a reduction of £2.9 million in sales of private-
label biscuits as a result of the "Every Day Low Pricing” campaign of our major customers,
which was partially offset by an increase in sales of Cadbury branded biscuits due to volume and
share growth of our Fingers branded products and products for children. We retained our French
biscuit distnbution company following the sale of our United Kingdom and United States biscuits
operations in January 2001 (see Other above).

Other

Sales of wines and spirits were £52.7 million for 2000, a decrease of £3.8 million, or
6.7%, compared to sales of £56.5 million for 1999. The remaining £2.8 million of sales by
discontinued operations in 2001 represents sales made by a non-core non-grocery business, which
has been put into liquidation in March 2002.

Premier Consolidated

Grosy Profit. Gross profit for our overall operations was £244.8 million for 2000, a
decrease of £6.8 million, or 2.7%, compared to gross profit of £251.6 million for 1999. Gross
margin increased to 23.7% for 2000 from 23.1% for 1999. Price deflation in the grocery sector
reduced our gross profit by £31.5 million which was offset by purchasing and manufacturing
efficiencies of £17.5 million, volume gains of £3.3 million and reductions in manufacturing
overheads of £5.7 million resulting from the restructuring program commenced 1n 1999. For
continuing operations, gross profit for continuing operations was £198.1 million, a decrease of
£3.1 mmllion, or 1.5%, over gross profit of £201.2 million for 1999. Gross margin for continuing
operations increased to 24.2% for 2000 from 23.6% for 1999.

Selling and Distribution Expenses. Selling and distribution expenses were £142.9
million for 2000, a decrease of £8.2 million, or 5.4%, compared to selling and distribution
expenses of £151.1 million for 1999. The decrease was primarily duc to reduced distribution
costs following the cost reduction nitiatives jnitiated in 1999. Selling and distribution expenses
for continuing businesses were £113.4 million, a decrease of £5.2 million, or 4.4%, over selling
and distribution expenses of £118.6 million for 1999.

Administrative Costs. Administrative costs werc £32.7 million for 2000, a decrease of
£3.7 million, or 10.2%, compared to administrative costs of £36.4 million for 1999, This
decrease principally reflects the further reduction in administrative staff that has taken place
during the year with the average number of management and administrative staff reducing by
25% from 1,292 to 966. For continuing businesses, administrative expenses were £24.6 million
1n 2000, a decrease of £3.3 million, or 11 8%, over administrative expenses of £27.9 million for
1999.
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- Operating Prafit Before Operating Exceptional Items. Operating profit before operating
exceptional items was £69.2 million for 2000, an increase of £5.1 million, or 8.0%, over
operating profit before operating exceptional items of £64.1 million for 1999. Operating margin
increased to 6.7% for 2000 from 5.9% for 1999. This improvement in operating margins reflects
the reductions in selling and administrative expenses, partly offset by the decrease in gross profit,
as discussed above. For continuing businesses, operating profit was £60.1 million in 2000, an
increase of £5.4 million, or 9.9%, over operating profit of £54.7 million for 1999.

Operating exceptional ifems. Operating exceptional items in 2000 comprise the
following principal items: ‘

¢ A charge of £1.6 million relating to the further restructuring of our canned foods, pickles and
sauces production facilities

Operating exceptional items m 1999 comprise the following item:

» A charge of £39.2 million relating to the restructuring of our UK grocery products production
facilities and administration functions.

e A charge of £13.2 mullion in relation to fees relating to the Transaction.

Non-gperating exceptional items. Non-operating excepttonal items in 2000 comprise the
following principal 1tems:

* A charge of £4.2 million which was an adjustment to the loss on dispesal of subsidiaries,
which were disposed of in prior years.

» A loss on disposal of surplus properties of £1.6 millton.
Non-operating exceptional items in 1999 comprise the following principal items:

» A charge of £5.6 mllion relating to the fundamental restructuring of Hillsdown that took
place immediately following the transaction.

* A loss on disposal of surplus propertics and the write down of production facilities of £5.1
million.

* A loss on the dispesals of Hilco and Chivers Ireland of £1.9 million.
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Net Interest Payable. Net interest payable was £67.9 million for 2000. This included £5.8
million of amortization charges on our capitalized debt issuance costs and £10.0 million of
exchange losses on the translation of the principal amount of the US dollar denominated Notes.
Net interest payable was £22.7 mullion for 1999, which included £2.4 million of amortization
charges on our capitalised debt issuance costs. The increase of net interest payable in 2000 was
due to the debt we incurred in connection with the acquisition of Hillsdown by Hicks Muse in
1999, ‘

Tax on profitloss on ordinary activities. Tax on profit/loss on ordinary activities was

£1.7 million for 2000. Tax payable was £9.0 million for 1999. The decrease in tax payable is a
result of the increase in the net interest charge in 2000.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flow from operations and borrowings under our
Senior Credit Facility. Approximately £106.7 million was available to us at December 31, 2001
for borrowing under the Working Capital Facility, of which up to £53.5 millicn may be used for

guarantees and letters of credit.

Cash flow
Net cash flow from operating activities

Net cash flow generated from operating activities (cash flow before interest, capital
expenditure, tax and dividends, but after working capital movements and cash flows relating to
operating exceptional items) was an inflow of £81.7 million for 2001, a decrease of £8.5 million
over net cash flow from operating activities of £90.2 million for 2000, and an increase of £53.0
million over net cash flow from operating activities of £28.7 million for 1999. The table below
analyses the decrease in net cash flow generated from operating activities:

2000 2001 Difference

£m £m im
Operating profit for continuing operations 60.1 64.3 42
Depreciation and amortisation for continuing operations 16.1 18.6 2.5
Operating cash outflow for discontinued operations 2.7 (0.8) 1.9
Working capital movements for continuing operations 319 13.1 (18.8)
Exceptional items (15.2)  (13.9) 1.7
Net cash inflow from operating activities 90.2 81.7 (8.5)

1989 2001 Difference

£m im £m
Operating profit for continuing operations 547 64.3 9.6
Depreciation and amortisation for continuing operations 17.6 18.6 1.0
Cash outflow for discontinued operations 16.4 (0.8) (172
Waorking capital movements for continuing operations 34 13.1 9.7
Exceptional items (63.4) (13.5) 49.9
Net cash inflow from operating activities 287 81.7 53.0

Historically, our cash flows from operating activities have been largely stable with
variances resulting from the timing of the receipt of payment from major customers and payments
to major suppliers, and from capital and other expenditures relating to the execution of our
TEStruCturing programs.
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Capital expenditure and financial investment

We made capital expenditures of £20.1 million in 2001. We made capital expenditures of
£26.5 million and £23.0 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively. We believe that our
manufacturing facilities are generally in good condition, and as we have improved the efficiency
of our manufacturing facilities with our capital expenditure programme during the three years
ended December 31, 2001, capital expenditures are now expected to run in line with depreciation.
We have budgeted to spend £15.8 million on capital expenditure in 2002, including £4.5 million
on improving our manufacturing process. We expect to fund future capital expenditure from our
operating activities and borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility. The Senior Credit Facility
places a limit on permitted capital expenditure of £35.0 million for 2002 and for each year
thereafter. We have the right to carry forward the excess by which the limit exceeds the actual
capital expenditure, up to a maximum amount of one third of the previous year’s permitted
capital expenditure for use within the first six months of the following financial year

Return on investments, servicing of finance and changes in finance

We paid net interest on our Notes, the Senior Credit Facility, overdrafts and cash balances
of £40.0 million in 2001 compared to net interest paid on our Notes, the Senior Credit Facility,
overdrafts and cash balances in 2000 of £55.4 million. The decrease in interest paid is principally
due to the reduction in term debt. The decrease of net interest paid in 2001 was principally due to
the utilisation of the proceeds from the sales of our biscuit manufacturing and wines and spirits
businesses in reducing our term debt.

Upon completion of the sale of our biscuits and wines and spirits operations, we used
£94.4 mullion of the net proceeds from the sales to pay down the Senior Credit Facility in
compliance with the terms of the indenture for the Notes and the Senior Credit Facility. We
retained the remaining £8.3 million of the net proceeds from the sales to fund acquisitions. In
July 2001, our parent company, Hillsdown sold a freehold property for £7.5 million, the proceeds
of which were contributed to Premier by way of an issue of share capital by Premier to
Hillsdown. Premier used the proceeds of the share issue to pay down the Senior Credit Facility.
A further £3.6 million of proceeds from asset disposals was used to pay down the Senior Credit
Facility.

Premier issued a further £16.2 million of share capital to Hillsdown for £16.2 million,
which was used principally to fund the acquisitions of Lift and Nelsons.

As a result, borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility at December 31, 2001 comprised
£121.3 mullion under Refinancing A Facility and £56.0 million under Refinancing B Facility, Of
the £125.0 million of Working Capital Facility, £nil was drawn at December 31, 2001 and £18.3
million was utilised for general corporate purposes. Borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility
bear interest at floating rates and require interest payments on varying dates.
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Refinancing A Facility is required to be repaid in semi-annual instalments with final
maturity in June 2006. Refinancing B Facility is required to be repaid in two instalments with
50% repayable in December 2006 and the balance repayable in June 2007. The Working Capital
Facility will cease to be available on June 30, 2006. The maturity profile of our Notes, secured
credit facilities and other borrowings, 1s set out in the table below.

The Refinancing Refinancing Other Total
Notes AFacility B Faclity

£m ifm fm £m im
Debt maturing in:
Less than | year - 13.5 - 0.7 14.2
I to 2 years - 18.0 - - 18.0
2103 years - 225 - - 22.5
3 to 4 years - 31.5 - - 31.5
4 to 5 years - 36.0 28.0 7.6 71.6
More than 5 years 212.4 - 28.0 02 240.6

212.4 121.5 56.0 8.5 3984

Under the Senior Credit Facility, we are required to make prepayments in full
immediately upon the occurrence of certain events, including a change of control (as defined
therein) or any asset sale (as defined therein) We are also required to make mandatory
prepayments with the first £100.0 million and thereafter S0% of the aggregate net proceeds of any
flotation (as defined therein) which does not constitute a full prepayment event and the net
proceeds from disposals which are not applied in acquiring replacement assets or other assets
required tn the business over a six-month reinvestment period. In addition, a percentage of our
excess cash flow must be applied in prepayment of the Senior Credit Facility. The percentage is
initially 75% but reduces in two equal steps to 25% dependent upon the applicable total net debt
to consolidated EBTTDA ratio for the financial year in question.

Premier also borrowed £7.6 million from an affiliated company. This loan is unsecured,
interest free and is repayable in full on December 31, 2006.

Premier International Foods plc 1s a holding company and does not have operations of its
own. It relies on dividends and payments on its intercompany loan to Premier Financing to make
payments on the principal and interest of the Notes. Premier Financing is also a holding company
and does not directly conduct any business operations. Premier Financing relies on dividends and
other payments from our operating subsidiaries to generate funds to fulfil its obligations under the
intercompany loan. The ability of Premier Financing, the borrower of the Senior Credit Facility,
to make dividends and other payments is restricted by the terms of the Senior Credit Facility and
the subordination deed. Furthermore, the right of the noteholders to receive payments on the
Notes 1s structurally subordinated to all liabilities of our subsidiaries.

While we believe that cash generated from our operations, together with available
borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility, will be adequate to meet anticipated future
requirements for working capital, capital expenditures and scheduled payments of principal and
interest on our indebtedness for the foreseeable future, we cannot assure you that we will generate
sufficient cash flow from opcrations or that future working capital will be available in an amount
sufficient to enable us to service our debt, including the Notes, or to make necessary capital
expenditures.
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The following discussion of our financial risk-management activities includes “forward-
looking statements™ that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially
from those projected in the forward-looking statements. :

Market risk represents the risk of changes in the value of financial instruments, whether
denivative or non-derivative, as a result of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates. The objective of our financial risk management strategy is to protect us against
unfavorable changes in the financial markets and thus help us secure profitability. Funding and
management of the financial risks are the responsibility of our treasury committee, which is a
sub-commuttee appointed by the Board of Directors.

Under our financial policy, we use various financial instruments within specified limits to
manage the primary market exposures associated with our underlying assets and liabilities, as
well as with anticipated transactions. We use these instruments to reduce risk by essentially
creating offsetting market exposures. These contracts are entered into with financial institutions
in accordance with our treasury policies and procedures, thereby reducing the risk of credit loss.
We use derivative financial instruments only for commercial purposes and financial purposes.
We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The following discussion contains sensitivity analyses which present the hypothetical loss
in cash flows or fair values of the financial imstruments and denivative financial instruments that
were held by us as of December 31, 2001 that were subject to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates. The range of sensitivities chosen for these analyses reflects our
view of changes that are reasonably possible over a one-year period.

In the normal course of business, we also face nisks that are either non-financial or non-
quantifiable. These risks principally include country, commodity, credit and legal risks, and are
not represented in the following analyses.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our policy with regard to foreign currency exchange risk is to hedge such risk using
foreign currency purchase contracts, swaps, options and currency borrowing/investments. It is
our policy to minimize risk to adverse movements in exchange rates by hedging the exposure at
- the point when it becomes a contractual obligation. We hedge all trading transaction exposures
above an aggregate level of £100,000. These transaction exposures are managed by each of our
subsidiary companies unless considered material to the group. These and other exposures arising
from our trade in non-sterling currencies can only be hedged by a subsidiary company in
agreement with group treasury and such positions are carefully monitored.

As of December 31, 2001, the contractual value and market value of our foreign currency
forward purchase contracts were £32.7 million and £31.9 million, respectively.

Using a hypothetical adverse change of 10% in foreign currency exchange rates, the
hypothetical loss in cash flows of derivative and non-denvative financial instruments and foreign
currency denominated balance sheet positions at December 31, 2001 is estimated to be £10.3
mullion (2000: £9.2 million).
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[nterest Rate Risk

Changes in our market risk exposure during 2001 primarily involved the reduction of
interest rate risk due to the decrease in our debt. This exposure will decrease further following
the pay down of the Senior Credit Facility with the proceeds from the sale of our biscuits and
wines and spirits operations. We do not know of, nor do we expect, any significant increases in
market risk exposure to be incurred in future reporting periods.

We pay interest at the following rates on our borrowings:

Borrowings Amount outstanding  Interest rate payable Interest rate at

at December 31, per annum December 31,
2001 2001

Refinancing A Facility £121.3 million  LIBOR plus margin 6.11%

Refinancing B Facility £56.0 million ~ LIBOR plus 2.75% 6.86%

Drawn Working Capital Facility fnil LIBOR plus margin 6.11%

Working Capital Facility utilised £18.3 million Various Various

for other purposes

Unutilised Working Capatal £106.7 million 0.25%-0.75% 0.625%

Facility

US$ 200 million Notes US$200.0 million 12.0% 12.00%

£75 million Notes £75.0 nullion 12.25% 12.25%

The margin applicable to the Refinancing A Facility and drawings under the Working
Capital Facility is 2.25% per annum reducing on the basis of a ratchet in several steps to 1.25%
per annum dependent upon certain net debt to consolidated EBITDA ratios. At December 31,
2001, the margin applied to LIBOR on this facility was 2.0%.

The utilisation of the Working Capital Facility for other purposes incurs fees dependent
upon the purpose that the facility is used for. Commitment fees are payable at the rate of 0.75%
per annum of the undrawn portion of the relevant facilities. The interest payable per annum on
commitment fees on the Working Capital Facility reduce in several steps from 0.75% to 0.25%
per annum dependent upon certain net debt to consolidated EBITDA ratios. At December 31,
2001, the margin applied to LIBOR in respect of commitment fees was 0.625%.

Our borrowings are principally denominated in pounds sterling and US dollars, with both
fixed and floating rates of interest. We actively monitor our interest rate exposure on these
borrowings, and use a variety of derivative financial instruments to hedge such exposure,
including interest rate swaps, collars and caps. The nature and volume of derivative financial
instruments held by us is partially determined based upon conditions set by our borrowing
agreements with our lenders. The borrowing agreements require us to hedge a minimum of 5S0%
of the interest rate exposure on our senior long-term debt.

In addition, we have entered into a coupon swap to fix the cash flows on our dollar notes,
which has the effect of converting the interest payments from fixed-rate dollars into fixed-rate
pounds sterling.

An estimated hypothetical negative effect of a 100 basis point (or one percent per year)
increase in interest rates would result in an increase in interest costs per year 'of £0.8 million

based on our debt position as at December 31, 2001 (2000: £2.1 mllion).
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Credit risk

Potential concentrations of credit risk to us consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents and trade receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are deposited with high credit,
quality financial institutions. Trade receivables are due principally from major European grocery
retailers. Furthermore, it 1s our policy to insure all third party trade debt. We do not consider
there to be any significant concentration of credit risk at December 31, 2001.

Inflation

We do not believe that our businesses are affected by inflation to any greater extent than
other businesses in our industry.

Material Differences between UK GAAP and US GAAP

UK GAAP differs 1n certain significant respects from US GAAP. The differences
applicable to us principally relate to goodwill amortisation, pensions, deferred taxation and
derivative financial instruments. A summary of the significant differences as they affect us are
set out tn Note 24 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements ncluded elsewhere in this
report.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

A summary of the recent accounting standards as they affect us are set out in Note 24 of
the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.
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